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BOCODOL is a parastatal entity, a creation 
of the statute, established under the BO-
CODOL Act, No. 20, (Cap 57:03) of 1998, 
whose core mandate is to make education 
accessible to out of school youth and adults 
through provision of education by open 
and distance learning.  BOCODOL provides 
tertiary education, professional training 
and secondary education. The College’s 
operations are funded by the Shareholder, 
Government and the College generates ad-
ditional income to meet the needs of its op-
erations. 

BOCODOL exists alongside other local edu-
cation institutions, public and private offer-
ing tertiary education. The market has thus 
become competetive. However, BOCODOL 
has an advantage because of the unique 
Open Distance Learning (ODL) mode of ed-
ucation delivery it uses.

BOCODOL is at the moment undergoing 
transformation into an Open University and 
is at the tail end of the process.

Organisational overview
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Botswana College of Distance and Open Learning (BOCODOL) has its Headquarters in Gaborone and five 
regional offices in Gaborone, Kang, Maun, Francistown and, Palapye.  Each regional office serves as an 
administrative support centre and provides learner support through the learning centres strategically 
located across the country.

Where to find BOCODOL

Francistown Regional Centre
P/Bag F2
Francistown
Tel: 2418383

Maun Regional Centre
P/Bag 0394
Maun 
Tel: 6800582

Kang Regional Centre
P/Bag 006
Kang
Tel: 6517248

Gaborone Regional Centre
P/Bag BO349 Bontleng
Gaborone
Tel: 3646100/3930017

Palapye Regional Centre
P/Bag 005
Palapye
Tel: 4924024/4924516

Follow BOCODOL on Facebook and Twitter www.bocodol.ac.bw

.

.
.
.
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Section 25 of the BOCODOL 
Act makes it mandatory for 
the Board of Governors to 
present to the Minister re-
sponsible for Education a 
“comprehensive report on 
the operations of the Col-
lege” annually. It is thus my 
distinct pleasure to present 
the 2015/16 Annual Report 
that captures operational 
highlights and financial state-
ments in respect of the year.

The year under review was 
the last for the College’s 2012-
2016 strategic plan, whose 
over-arching aim was to see to 
the completion of the trans-
formation of BOCODOL into 
an Open University. Whilst 
the legislative framework for 
legitimization of the transfor-
mation could not be passed 
as had been envisaged, it 
is pleasing to note that all 
other related preparatory 
projects and initiatives were 
successfully undertaken. The 
physical infrastructure, insti-
tution of tertiary academic 
structures, introduction and 
diversification of tertiary edu-
cation programmes as well 
as the development of aca-
demic and support staff to 

required skills’ levels were all 
accomplished in readiness 
for the Open University. Most 
importantly, citizens were 
able to derive benefits from 
the programmes and services 
of the College. Over 15000 
Batswana were enrolled in 
our school equivalency, cer-
tificate, diploma, undergrad-
uate and postgraduate pro-
grammes.

The College worked in part-
nership with local, regional 
and international organisa-
tions including universities, 
to open up learning oppor-
tunities to Batswana on a 
nation-wide scale. The Com-
monwealth of Learning (COL) 
was particularly instrumen-
tal to most of our transfor-
mation breakthroughs. COL 
appointed a Technical Advi-
sor from Open University of 
United Kingdom at no cost 
to Botswana and the College 
to provide the much needed 
transformation guidance. On 
behalf of Management, the 
Board and Botswana as a Na-
tion, I wish to applaud and 
thank the Commonwealth 
of Learning for the valuable 
assistance. BOCODOL is un-

doubtedly well on its way to 
achieving its over-arching 
strategic intent.

I wish to thank the Govern-
ment of Botswana for its sup-
port towards making ODL an 
integral component of edu-
cation and training, the Board 
for its effective oversight, 
Management and Staff for 
their collective intelligence 
and passion with which they 
have relentlessly pursued the 
objectives of BOCODOL.  

Abel Modungwa      
                                 
BOCODOL Board Chairperson

Foreword by Board Chairperson 

Most importantly, citizens were 

able to derive benefits from the pro-

grammes and services of the Col-

lege. Over 15000 Batswana were 

enrolled in our school equivalency, 

certificate, diploma, undergraduate 

and postgraduate programmes.

‘

‘
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8 560
completing students across disciplines

87%
customer satisfaction
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8 560
completing students across disciplines

It is that time of the year when 
the College Management has to 
account for its operations in the 
previous year. It always excites 
me to present this report for the 
public’s consumption. This is be-
cause despite challenges, the 
College has continued to grow 
beyond people’s expectations. 
This report details the perfor-
mance of the institution against 
its targets. Over the years, the 
College has been able to perform 
beyond its targets. This is attrib-
utable mainly to its dedicated 
leadership and staff. 

BOCODOL, like in the previous 
year, experienced a significant 
increase in the number of learn-
ers completing. The College 
had 8560 learners completing 
against a target of 6308, which 
represented 136% achievement. 
Initiatives such as improved 
quality assurance processes 
and improvement of tutor skills 
contributed immensely to the 
achievement.  BOCODOL contin-
ued to be a “power house” of ODL 
in Southern Africa.   

It is gratifying to note that the 
number of learners using ODL 
methods went up significantly. 
Similarly, BOCODOL was able to 
achieve a 93% learners progres-
sion rate against a target of 89%. 

However, the College was not 
able to achieve its target on the 
retention of learners. The College 
was only able to retain 68% of 
learners against a target of 85%. 
This came as a result largely of 
the inability of some learners to 
afford tuition fees. Be that as it 
may, the programmes’ diversi-
fication drive of the institution 
contributed to the achievement 
of enrolment in excess of targets. 

An aspect that requires urgent at-
tention is the ODL Quality Index 
of learners relative to that of staff. 
The learners’ quality index at 2.93 
(58.6%) was lower than that of 
staff at 3.16 (63.2%). This means 
that the learners were less satis-
fied with the quality of BOCODOL 
offerings, which places a demand 
on us to address the matter ex-
peditiously. Regarding customer 
satisfaction in general, the Col-
lege attained 87%, exceeding the 
set target of 85%. It was my ad-
ministration’s objective to ensure 
that staff provided services that 
met the customers’ expectations. 
The College further opened av-
enues through which individuals 
could contact us. These included 
various social media that helped 
address stakeholder concerns 
with relative efficiency, leading 
to improved customer satisfac-
tion levels. The College recorded 

an impressive increase in the use 
of technology. It attained a 96% 
uptake of technology. This fol-
lowed the launch of BOCODOL’s 
on-line services which included 
student i-enablers, e-learning 
portal, Google apps for Educa-
tion and several others used in 
the library. Owing to these tech-
nological advancements, there 
was an increase in the number 
of programmes offered or facili-
tated on-line. 

During the year under review, 
the College offered a total of thir-
ty nine (39) programmes against 
the target of forty (40). The Col-
lege continued to ensure that the 
quality of these programmes was 
of good repute. This was testified 
by audits that were performed by 
the Botswana Qualifications Au-
thority (BQA) and Namibian Col-
lege of Open Learning (NAMCOL) 
whose results indicated high 
compliance to set standards. In 
its quest to drive the education 
quality agenda in the country, the 
College offered a Post Graduate 
Certificate in Quality Assurance 
in Education programme. The 
programme was meant to equip 
practitioners in education with 
skills and knowledge relative to 
maintanance and improvement 
of quality of service.
The year 2015/16 also marked 

Executive Director’s Statement
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the end of the 2012-2016 Strate-
gic Plan. Management therefore, 
reviewed the strategy and this 
gave rise to the development of 
the new strategy; (2016 – 2020 
Strategic Plan). The College also 
undertook a number of initiatives 
that were geared towards ensur-
ing that its internal processes 
were aligned to the operations of 
the envisaged Open University. 
These included procurement pro-
cesses, learner records manage-
ment and  review of the Learner 
Support Model. 

Worthy of highlight are challeng-
es that the college had to contend 
with. As in the past, BOCODOL was 
underesourced for the activities it 
had to undertake. As a result, the 
scope of some critical projects 
and initiatives had to be scaled 

down. New positions that  were 
meant to support the increased 
programmes and services had to 
be frozen. Consequently, the col-
lege reduced intake for a number 
of tertiary programmes, thus de-
nying some applicants the oppor-
tunity to learn. The college also 
had to contend with the negative 
perception of ODL in some quar-
ters.  To counter this, advocacy 
had to be strengthened, leading 
to increased acceptability.

Batswana are now beginning to 
realise that going forward, ODL 
will be a much more sustainable 
solution to the issue of equitable 
access to education and training. 

In conclusion, I wish to express 
my gratitude to the Board of Gov-
ernors, Management, Staff and 

Learners for their role in making 
ODL a viable alternative within 
our educational landscape. There 
is clearly more to be gained out 
of the continuing institutionaliza-
tion of ODL. 

Thank you.

Dr Daniel R Tau

Executive Director’s Statement
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Corporate  Governance 

Statement of Commitment

BOCODOL is committed to upholding good corporate 
governance in all its activities. BOCODOL subscribes 
to the principles of corporate governance, with inspi-
ration from King III Code. The BOCODOL Board Char-
ter, according to which the Board of Directors acts, is 
governance-centric. The Board is committed to im-
proving corporate governance practices and ensures 
BOCODOL goes beyond the mere tick box exercise. 
The Board ensures that BOCODOL observes the high-
est standards of professionalism and integrity in its 
dealings with stakeholders.  It is committed to putting 
the interests of its customers first and safeguarding its 
reputation.

The Board of Directors

BOCODOL is led by a Board of Directors consisting of 
persons dedicated to promoting good corporate gov-
ernance, appointed in terms of the BOCODOL Act.
 
Primary role
The Board provides strategic direction to BOCODOL 
and performs an oversight function with regard to 
resources, people and performance of BOCODOL. It 
ensures BOCODOL achieves its objectives and com-
plies with laws, statutes, regulations, standards and 
relevant codes and policies.

Composition

The Act prescribes appointment of 13 Board members 
by the Minister of Education and Skills Development 
from prescribed government and private entities as 
follows: 
•	 two people from the Ministry of Education and 

Skills Development

•	 one from Directorate of Public Service 
       Management 
•	 one from Botswana Qualifications Authority, 
•	 one from Ministry of Labour And Home Affairs
•	 one from the Ministry of Finance and 
       Development Planning, 
•	 one from Botswana Federation of Trade Unions, 
•	 one from Centre for Continuing Education
•	 one College staff representative
•	 one from Private Tertiary Institution
•	 two representing Private Sector 
•	 The Executive Director who is an ex-officio 
       member.

Members are entitled to hold office for one term of 
three years, and are eligible for re-appointment at the 
end of the term. 

The following were members of BOCODOL Board for 
2015/16:

1. Mr Abel Modungwa (Board Chairperson): 
       Botswana Qualifications Authority 
2. Dr Daniel Tau: Executive Director of BOCODOL:
3. Ms Joyce K. Maphorisa (Board Vice-Chairperson): 

Private Sector
4. Ms Matshidiso Tlhong, representing Private 
       Sector; 
5. Mr Simon Coles representing the Ministry of 
       Education and Skills Development
6. Mr Ndondo Koolese representing the Ministry of 

Education and Skills Development
7. Dr Ernest Makhwaje (Ministry of Finance and 
       Development Planning)
8. Ms Lebohang Letsie (Botswana Federation of 

Trade Unions)
9. Dr Innocent Botshelo (Centre for Continuing 
       Education, University of Botswana)

Corporate governance refers to the way in which organisations are governed. It is concerned 
with practises and procedures for trying to ensure that an organisation achieves its objectives. 
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10. Mr Victor Maika (College staff representative) 
11. Mr Odirile Gabasiane representing Private Tertiary 

Institutions.
12. Dr Theophilus Mooko representing Directorate of 

Public Service Management
13. Ms Dineo Phuti representing the Ministry of Labor 

and Home Affairs.

This year, the following 6 members retired and were 
re-appointed for a term of two more years:  
•	 Mr Abel Modungwa, 
•	 Dr Theophilus Mooko, 
•	 Dr Ernest Makhwaje, 
•	 Ms Lebohang Letsie, 
•	 Mr Victor Maika, 
•	 Mr Odirile Gabasiane, 
•	 Ms Matshidiso Tlhong
•	 Ms Dineo Phuti

Mr Khoza Ramahobo retired in September 2015. Mr 
Ndondo Koolese (replacing Mr Khoza Ramahobo) 
and Mr Simon Coles were appointed to the BOCODOL 
Board in September 2015. 
Dr Theophilus Mooko, resigned in February 2016.

Meetings of the Board

The Act prescribes at least three meetings per year, 
with provision for special meetings as and when need 
arises. The quorum is 8 members. This year, the Board 
held 4 meetings as shown on the table below. 

Board Committees

To ensure efficiency and effectiveness, the Board func-
tions through three Board committees with assigned 
responsibilities. The Committees and their functions 
are presented below;

Finance Committee: It is mandated to look after the 
financial and audit affairs of the College.  

The Chairperson is Ms M. Tlhong and other members 
of the Committee are Mr. K. Ramohobo, Dr. E.N. Makh-
waje, Dr. I.S. Botshelo and the Executive Director, Dr D. 
R Tau.

Programmes Committee: The committee is in charge 
of the College’s academic affairs.  It deals with issues 
of programme development, production, delivery and 
evaluation.  Ms. D. Phuti is the Chairperson of this com-
mittee and the members are Mr. D. Ratsatsi, Dr I. S. Bot-
shelo, Mr V.B. Maika, and the Executive Director, Dr D. 
R. Tau.

Human Resources Committee:  The committee takes 
care of the College staff welfare issues and advises on 
human resources management policies and related 
matters. 

It is chaired by Mr O. Gabasiane and other members 
are Ms. J. Maphorisa, Ms. L. Letsie, Mr. K. Ramahobo, 
Mr. V. B. Maika and the Executive Director, Dr D. R. Tau.

The Board carries out its mandate through its Commit-
tees. The Committees handle matters directly under 
mandates and report to the Main Board on a quarterly 
basis unless there are matters which require special 
Board meetings. The Board Chairperson and the Exec-
utive Director represent the College at the Parliamen-
tary Accounts Committee where they account for the 
College’s performance. Annual reports are submitted 
to the Ministry of Education and Skills Development 
as a way of accounting for annual performance. The 
reports are subsequently presented to Parliament by 
the  Minister.

Board Secretary

The Board is supported and guided in its governance 
resposibilities by a qualified Secretary who is also the 
Legal Advisor of the College.
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Director Board Programme 
Committee

Human 
Resources 

Committee

Finance 
Committee

Mr Abel Modungwa 735.00

Ms Joyce Maphorisa 588.00 735.00

Mr Odirile Gabasiane 588.00 588.00

Ms Lebohang Letsie 588.00 588.00

Ms Dineo Phuti* 588.00 735.00

Mr Simon Coles* 588.00 588.00

Mr Ndondo Koolese* 588.00 588.00

Ms Matshidiso Tlhong 588.00 588.00

Dr Ernest Makhwaje*  588.00

Dr Innocent Botshelo 588.00 588.00 588.00

Attendance Register Board of Governors Remunerations (BWP)

Director Board Finance
Committee

Human 
Resources 

Committee

Programme 
Committee

Mr Abel Modungwa 4/4

Dr Daniel Tau 4/4 4/4 3/4 3/3

Ms Joyce Maphorisa 3/4 3/4

Mr Odirile Gabasiane 2/4 3/4

Mr Victor Maika 4/4 4/4 3/3

Ms Matshidiso Tlhong 3/4 4/4

Mr Khosa Ramahobo 2/2 2/2

Dr Innocent Botshelo 4/4 4/4 3/3

Dr Ernest Makhwaje 4/4 2/4

Mr Simon Coles 2/2 1/1

Ms Lebohang Letsie 4/4 4/4

Mr Ndondo Koolese 1/2  0/1

Dr Theophilus Mooko 2/3 3/4

Ms Dineo Phuti 0/4 3/3

* Denotes members who are Government employees; therefore the allowance reverts to 
   Government.
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Going Forward

The Board has over the years had its members’ performance assessed and this has inspired it to aim 
higher in the next reporting year. The plan is to increase training of senior personnel and Board mem-
bers to improve the process. This will put the transforming BOCODOL in a position to fully embrace the 
principles of corporate governance.

Risks and Opportunities

In pursuit of our vision and strategic objectives, the College encounters some challenges and oppor-
tunities from its external and internal environment. Below is an overview of the specific risks and op-
portunities that affect BOCODOL’s ability to create value in the short, medium and long term as well as 
how the organisation is dealing with them.

No Risk Response

 1 Failure to attract senior academic staff Reward structure review and change management

2 Insufficient resource capacity to implement initiatives Put in place office of strategy management

3 Loss of key staff Reward structure review and change management

4 Reduction of Government subvention Implement a Business Development Plan

5 Change of institutional leadership Monitor

6 Delayed approval of legislation Monitor

7 New entrants into ODL market Monitor

8 Industrial unrest Monitor

No Opportunities Action

 1 Technology Leverage technology

2 Large market for affordable education Diversify programmes

3 Government support Wise use of resources and generate income

4 ODL is a favoured mode Improve results for open schooling
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CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY ENGAGEMENTS

As it has now become an annual event BOCODOL participated in the annual Cheshire Foundation spon-
sored walk as part of its Corporate Social Responsibility. Cheshire Foundation is an institution that cares for 
resident and non-resident children with disability. The sponsored walk is used as a way of raising funds to 
run the centre as it has a limited budget from Government which is not able to meet all the Centre’s costs.  
The College made a donation of funds to the Centre. The Foundation paid tribute to all institutions that 
support the Foundation. Mr Mooney, the Chairperson of the Board of the Foundation, explained that the 
funds were raised for the development of a similar Centre in Palapye. BOCODOL prides itself with having 
contributed to this growth. 

BOCODOL in its endeavour to give a helping hand to the community refurbished the Makanke Child Care 
Centre. BOCODOL facelifted the centre by painting the buildings used for children, the kitchen and the 
Kgotla structure (loobo). The project was concluded with a celebration where the village Kgosi commend-
ed BOCODOL for its compassionate nature. 

On the other hand the College continues to support a house in SOS at Tlokweng. The College through 
the School of Education staff adopted a house which comprises eight children. These children are given 
grocery and some clothing items to the value of P1000.00 every other month. This has been going on for 
the last two years and has strengthened the collaboration between BOCODOL and the Centre. This has put 
BOCODOL as a very caring institution in line with the 2016 Vision Pillar A compassionate, just and caring 
nation. BOCODOL wishes to call upon other institutions and individuals to join hands to ensure that their 
role in the improvement of the quality of the lives of the citizenry of Botswana is continually improved. 
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BOCODOL Staff refurbishing the 
Makanke Child Care Centre



1 6  |  B O C O D O L  a n n u a l  r e p o r t

HEALTH AND WELLNESS

The College hosts an annual staff wellness day for BOCODOL staff at the Headquarters. The College was not 
able to host the event during the reporting period and instead held it after the end of the reporting period 
due to logistical challenges and pressing College events which had to be preferred.
However, the College hosts annual Regional Centres team building retreats at two of the Regional Cen-
tres. The events for 2015/16 were hosted for Palapye and Francistown Regional Offices on 04/09/15 and 
11/09/15 respectively. 

The days were dedicated to giving staff time outside office so that they may relax, bond with each other 
and also learn about how they could deal with life challenges, both at work and personally.
A consultant from Desktop Holdings was engaged to provide facilitation for both Regions.
The topics covered included:
•	 Management	of	personal	finances
•	 Dealing	with	conflict
•	 Physical	fitness	
Members of staff were also taken through a guided training on aerobics and shown how regular exercising 
can help in managing lifestyle and other chronic diseases.
The afternoon was dedicated to sporting and other team building games. The games covered included; 
football, running, tug of war and others. The staff enjoyed the games they engaged in. At the end of the 
event they gave positive feedback to the facilitators who encouraged them to consider exercising as part 
of their lives. The activities were undertaken at the two regional centres referred to above.

SOUTHERN AFRICAN DEVELOPMENT COMMUNITY CENTRE FOR DISTANCE EDUCATION (SADC - CDE)

The Southern African Development Community Centre for Distance Education (SADC - CDE) was estab-
lished in June 2005 with a mandate to provide capacity building for effective and efficient provision and 
management of Open and Distance Learning (ODL) within the SADC member states. This broad aim is 
achieved through the facilitation of capacity building initiatives in collaboration with benefitting member 
states using various modes such as workshops, seminars, conferences, sharing of resources, short and long 
term training.

The SADC-CDE report covers activities undertaken by the Centre during the 2015/16 financial year.  These 
activities were undertaken using funding from the Commonwealth of Learning (COL) in collaboration with 
the Ministry of Education and Skills Development in Botswana.  The Centre is hosted and supported by and 
through the Botswana College of Distance and Open Learning (BOCODOL). The activities are presented 
below:

The SADC-CDE Advisory Board Meeting Renewal of the Memorandum of Agreement 

The SADC-CDE Advisory Board held its annual meeting in Maputo, Mozambique, in September 2015 chaired 
by the Permanent Secretary in the Ministry of Education and Skills Development, Botswana. Following 
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this meeting, the Ministry of Education and Skills Development and the Commonwealth of Learning (COL) 
signed a Memorandum of Agreement (MoA) for another three years beginning July 2015 to June 2018. The 
signing followed the review of the operations of the Centre and approval of a new Strategic Plan to cover 
the new period.  

Capacity Building in the SADC region

Capacity building initiatives focused on the Short-term and long term training needs as presented by insti-
tutions in member states. 

Short-term Training Project Management Course 

The Centre continues to offer short-term training in ‘Online Project Management Course’ through the In-
ternational Project Leadership Academy of Canada. A total of fifty (50) practitioners in Open and Distance 
Learning from across the SADC region were sponsored for the reporting period.
Ten (10) open and distance learning practitioners were trained in a week long workshop in Monitoring and 
Evaluation in ODL through the SADC Centre of Specialization (Teacher Education) based at the Open Uni-
versity of Tanzania (OUT). The participants were from Tanzania. 

Quality Assurance Common Criteria Development Workshop

The Centre in collaboration with the Commonwealth of Learning (COL) facilitated two Quality Assurance 
workshops aimed at first introducing quality assurance peer auditing and then developing a Quality Assur-
ance Common Criteria as well as an Inter- institutional Collaborative Framework based on the BOCODOL/
NAMCOL Model. The workshops took place in Maseru, Lesotho in June 2015 and March 2016 in Maputo, 
Mozambique. The target institutions were Lesotho Distance Teaching Centre (LDTC) and the Instituto de 
Educação Aberta e à Distância (Institute of Open and Distance Learning) (IEDA) in Mozambique. The two 
institutions had pledged to collaborate following a resolution to adopt the quality assurance peer auditing 
practice from BOCODOL and NAMCOL by the Commonwealth Open Schooling Association (COMOSA) with 
its four Chapters (Africa, Asia, the Pacific; and Canada and the Caribbean at its meeting in Dhaka, Bangla-
desh in 2014. 

The workshops were facilitated by practitioners from Namibia College of Open Learning (NAMCOL), Botswa-
na College of Distance and Open Learning (BOCODOL) and the Southern African Development Commu-
nity- Centre for Distance Education (SADC-CDE). In addition to participants from Lesotho and Mozambique, 
two executive members of COMOSA from the Asia Chapter attended the March workshop in anticipation 
of adopting the criteria.

With regard to the Certificate in Quality Assurance, three of the five ODL practitioners were awarded certifi-
cates by the Open Polytechnic of New Zealand (OPNZ). Two practitioners came from BOCODOL, one from 
NAMCOL while two others did not complete the course. 
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The Centre, as the Secretariat of the Distance Education Association of Southern Africa (DEASA) participates 
in the Association’s Conferences and Annual General Meetings (AGMs) to offer Secretarial services. The 
Centre thus participated at the 2015 DEASA Conference and Annual General Meeting hosted in Mbabane, 
Swaziland in September 2015. The Theme for the conference was: Celebrating 43 years of DEASA widen-
ing	access	to	education:	A	reflective	lens.	A	total	of	70	practitioners	attended	the	Conference	which	was	
addressed by the President and Chief Executive Officer of the Commonwealth of Learning Prof. Asha S. 
Kanwar.  The DEASA/SADC-CDE International Journal of Open and Distance Learning is published annually 
following the yearly DEASA Conference.

A National Open and Distance Learning (ODL) Policy Framework for Botswana

The Centre also worked with the Ministry of Education and Skills Development, Botswana to review and 
validate the National (Botswana) ODL Policy Framework. The workshop was facilitated by the Common-
wealth of Learning (COL). It was held on 22 -23 October 2015.

The Centre presented a progress report at the Joint Meeting of Senior Officials responsible for Education 
and Training, Science, Technology and Innovation. The report shared the beneficiaries of the capacity build-
ing initiatives per member states. It further highlighted the Notesmaster Project, a freely available platform 
which is opening up access and encouraging collaboration between and among teachers and learners 
across the globe.  The platform was developed by Notesmaster International in the United Kingdom and 
has been made available to a number of institutions including BOCODOL. 

The meeting which was attended by nine SADC countries and SADC Cooperating Partners took place in 
February 2016 in Kasane, Botswana. 

STRATEGY AND RESOURCE ALLOCATION

The year 2015/16 represented BOCODOL’s last year of its 2012-2016 Strategy. The College performed ex-
ceptionally well against the targets on its objectives, in most areas exceeding targets, despite the resource 
constrained environment it operated under.

Corporate Scorecard Dashboard (2015/16)

The Corporate Dashboard below gives a detailed indication of the performance of the institution in 2015/16. 
In	a	nutshell	the	scorecard	reflects	how	the	institution	has	performed	against	its	strategic	objectives’	tar-
gets within the framework of the four perspectives of the Balanced Scorecard planning and performance 
reporting methodology. 
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Corporate Scorecard Dashboard 2015/16

Strategic 
Theme

Strategic Objective KPA KP
A

W
ei

gh
t

W
ei

gh
te

d
Sc

or
e Performance 2015/16

Baseline Target Actual
Indicator/

Status

Business 
Results

Increase Student 
Completion

# of students 
completing

6 4 4676 6308 8603 136%

Customer 
stakeholder 
satisfaction

Improve progression Progression Rate 3 3 60% 89% 93% 104%
Improve Customer 
Retention

% Retention 3 3 70% 85% 68% 80%

Increase Student 
Enrolment

Volume
2 3

8625 15010 15059 100%
2 2

Improve Customer 
Satisfaction

% CSI 4 4 85% 85% 87% 102%

Improved Market 
Relevance

% Demand Match 3 0 20% 56% 52% 93%

Increase Technology 
Uptake

% Technology users 3 2 30% 60% 96% 160%

Process

Improve Quality 
Assurance

% ODL provision 
index

7 6 64% 75% 78% 104%

% Complete 4 0 N/A N/A N/A

Improve Customer 
Management

% Complaints/Queries 
resolved 1st Time

4 5 60% 80% 90% 113%

Improve Market 
positioning

# of enquiries per 
month

4 3 3000 5000 5900 118%

Diversify Programmes # of Programmes 5 5 35 40 39 98%
Leverage Strategic 
Collaborations

# of Active Strategic 
Partnerships

3 3 15% 26% 18% 72%

Increase Productivity Productivity Index 3 0 N/A N/A N/A

People and 
Leadership

Improve Corporate 
Governance

Compliance levels 
with King III & 
legislation

6 6 80% 90% 90% 100%

Build Institutional 
Capacity

% Implementation of 
New University

6 5 20% 80% 80% 100%

Improve Leadership % Leadership Index 7 0 91% 75% N/A N/A

Develop Human 
Resource

% Academic PHD 
Holders

6
13 11% 30% 33% 110%

% Staff with Required 
Qualification

0 96% 100% 99% 99%

Improve Financial 
Management

% Budget Compliance 6 6 98% 98% 93.3% 100%

Reduce dependency on 
government

% Non Government 
Funding

6 5 20% 30% 40% 120%

Harness technology
# of Technology 
Mediated Products & 
Services

6 6 13 25 30 120%

Gold: above 105%
(achievement above target)
Green: 105 - 85%
(achievement on target)

Amber: 84 - 65% (target not 
achieved but in progress)

Red: above 105%
(target not met)



2 0  |  B O C O D O L  a n n u a l  r e p o r t

Business Results

The Business Results perspective comprises projects and activities in the College that promote growth 
in enrolment and student completion rate. Several initiatives were introduced to improve the quality of 
teaching so as to increase the completion rate. Among the many initiatives were the training of tutors on 
research skills, introduction of quality assurance processes and development of research guides for stu-
dents in different schools. The number of students completing in the year stood at 8603. This achievement 
is against a target of 6308, which translates to an achievement of 137%. The increase is attributed to the 
increased number of learners completing in the different tertiary programmes. A total of 793 tertiary learn-
ers graduated and 7810 Open Schooling learners completed during the reporting period.

The table below gives the throughput figures across the programmes during the reporting period.

Key        
JC: Junior Certificate       
BGCSE: Botswana General Certificate of Secondary Education   
EPP: English for Professional Purposes     
SSBM: Small Scale Business Management
MSO: Microsoft Office Suite      
CDEP: Certificate for Distance Education Practitioners   
CDM: Certificate in Disaster Management     
DIECD: Diploma in Integrated Early Childhood Development  
DBM: Diploma in Business Management     
DHRM: Diploma in Human Resources Management
BCOM (HRM & IR): Bachelor of Commerce (Human Rosources and Industrial Relations)    

Customer/Stakeholder Perspective

This involves coordination of College customer management and stakeholder engagement activities to en-
sure achievement of projected targets for student enrolment and progression, customer retention and satis-
faction as well as  technology uptake. In the reporting period, the College attained 93% progression against 
a target of 89%. A total of 3055 learners progressed from the initial 3274 registered at the beginning of 
2015/16. The number of learners the College retained stood at 68% against a target of 85%. The challenges 
around ICT mediated programmes seem to have contributed to the drop in the retention rate. The overall 
student enrolment stood at 15059 against a target of 15010, representing a little over 100% achievement. 
The	high	achievement	was	 influenced	by	 the	ongoing	programmes’	diversification	online	as	well	 as	 the	
Back-to School programme.

The ODL Quality Index on Customer Satisfaction survey revealed quality indices of 63.2% and 68.6% for Staff 
and Learners respectively, indicating that Staff members were more satisfied than the Learners. Overall, a 
customer satisfaction rate of 87% against a target of 85% was achieved.  

With regard to technology uptake, the number of technology users increased to 96% against a target of 
60%.  This was attributed to the launch of online services including student i-enablers, e-learning portal, 
Google apps for Education, Library online resources, digital repository and, social media platforms. Com-

JC BGCSE EPP SSBM MSO CDEP CDM DIECD DBM DHRM BCOM TOTAL

1627 6183 11 172 28 10 31 96 86 265 94 8603
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puter training continued to be offered through Libraries at Kang, Maun and Gaborone. With more tertiary 
programmes offered online, students were issued with tablets loaded with learning materials, which they 
used to access the online portal.    The total enrolment as of March 2016 stood at 16122 learners across all 
the programmes.

Process Perspective (Organizational effectiveness and efficiency) 

This entails initiatives for provision of institutional services to ensure organisational effectiveness and ef-
ficiency through improved quality assurance processes, customer management, market positioning, di-
versified programmes and leveraging on strategic collaborations. For the reporting period, the quality 
assurance index achievement stood at 78% against a target of 75%. The increase could be attributed to 
the increase in satisfaction levels due to implementation of quality assurance initiatives. Customer man-
agement performance stood at 90% against a target of 80%. This was due to the improved customer man-
agement processes. The inquiries about BOCODOL programmes and services continued at a high level 
- with 5900 received per month; surpassing a target of 5000. The use of Facebook, Twitter, Website and 
the	introduction	of	online	application	&	registration	have	positively	influenced	the	appetite	for	inquiry.	
The programmes on offer in BOCODOL stood at 39 against a target of 40. However, there was a decline in 
the number of strategic partnerships as some became non-functional during the reporting period. They 
decreased from 26 partnerships in 2014/15 to 18 in the reporting period.

Additionally, the Botswana Qualification Authority performed quality audits in the College and that went 
a long way in raising College compliance to standards. Internally, the College, through the Academic Ser-
vices Division, started an initiative to improve quality of products through the following strategies:

 a. Controlled growth of programmes 
 b. Increased consolidation of existing programmes
 c. Recruitment of academic staff
 d. Provision of Schools with administrative support staff 
 e. Recruitment of senior academics to enhance quality of programmes.

As a way of Leveraging Strategic Collaborations, the School of Education collaborated with the Open Uni-
versity of Mauritius in the provision of Bed (Primary) Programme. Another Partnership was forged with the 
Open University of Tanzania focusing on Open and Distance Education (ODE) delivery, ICT applications, 
use of laboratory facilities, collaborative research and publications, and staff exchange. The long existing 
ZOU-BOCODOL partnership was renewed with a revised matrix of responsibilities and payment appor-
tionment structure. The new contract allows the School of Business and Management Studies to develop a 
new degree in Human Resources Management to replace the current partnership programme.  Moreover, 
the COL/BOCODOL project on repurposing OERs for TVET was completed. The newly established School of 
Social Sciences continued to explore ways of leveraging strategic partnerships with North West University 
and Indira Gandhi National Open University (IGNOU) for offering new programmes. 
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Resources & People Perspective

This perspective focuses on ensuring availability of resources to improve institutional capacity and lead-
ership through compliance to corporate governance principles, prudent financial management and de-
velopment of human resources. Since 2015/16 planning period marked the final year of Strategic Plan 
2012-2016, a lot of time was dedicated to the review of the Strategic Plan and the development of the 
new Strategy 2016-2020.  This was facilitated by an external stakeholder (InnoLead) who coordinated the 
review of the 2012-2016 Strategy and the development of the new Strategy.  Refresher training on the 
Balanced Scorecard methodology was conducted by Innolead for Senior Management.  The new Strategy 
was approved by the Board and will be implemented in the new plan period when the Office of Strategy 
Management is expected to be operational.  A Legal Services Unit was established under the Office of the 
Executive Director and Board support activities were handed over to this office although the Support Ser-
vices Division will continue to oversee technical support for Finance and Human resources Committees.  

Major initiatives to facilitate institutional support towards the establishment of the Open University (OU) 
continued to be progressed mostly through monitoring of transitional arrangements in place.  The review 
of the Learner Support Model continued as part of the transformation technical assistance provided by 
Professor Alan Tait under the auspices of COL.  A project team also set up to review institutional records 
with the view to coming up with a strategy for management of student records separate from other cor-
porate records. The Procurement Regulations were aligned with the PPADB requirements and submitted 
for approval.

The College, through the HR Department, planned to develop basic leadership development programmes 
at supervisory, managerial and executive level in order to close competency gaps during the transitional 
period, in line with the training plan developed following the staff competency assessment in 2014/15. 
This, however, did not materialise due to capacity and resource constraints.  Change management initia-
tives were implemented as part of daily operations.  

The Staff Development Plan was implemented to ensure availability of qualified personnel (Appendix 
1).  Despite limited budget, the College continued to support long-term training.  The percentage (%) 
of academic staff with PhD qualifications reached 33% against a target of 30%, while 99% of all staff had 
requisite qualifications.  To implement the HR Strategy, initiatives undertaken include the recruitment of 
additional staff, wellness programme and Performance Management reviews.    

While	the	College	continues	to	face	cash	flow	challenges,	for	the	period	under	review,	98%	Budget	compli-
ance was achieved. Internal revenue generation reached 40% against a target of 30%.  The 2014/15 Audit 
was concluded within the required statutory framework.  With implementation of online student registra-
tion and e-payments, the College able to reconcile student accounts timeously.  

 The number of technology-mediated products and services rose to 30 against a target of 25.  D-space 
training was conducted for library staff and the institutional repository became fully functional. The Col-
lege implemented student i-enablers, which made it possible to implement other online services includ-
ing library resources.  The ITS System was fully functional and utilised. There were on-going efforts to 
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make the ITS Assessment module fully operational in the next plan period.  The College participated at the 
2015/16 annual ITS User Group at which it was recognised for its continued use of the ITS over the last 10 
years.  Overall there was notable progress in the use of the ITS system and other institutions had started 
benchmarking with the College as a result.  

A critical objective under the resources and people perspective was building of institutional capacity 
which comprised KPIs as listed below:

•	 Infrastructure Provision
•	 Staff Qualifications
•	 Tertiary Programmes
•	 Academic Structures
•	 Legislative Framework

Each of these KPIs accounted for 20%. The College achieved 80% against a target of 100% because the 
legislative framework could not be completed as had been anticipated.

BOCODOL Graduates
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1.1  BOCODOL Sponsored staff who completed their PHD programmes of study during 2015/16

Programme of study/ Course University/ Institution NO. of staff

1.1.1 PhD programme in Education (Educational Technology) University of Botswana x 1

1.1.2 PhD Curriculum and Instructional Design and 
Development

University of Pretoria x 1

1.2  BOCODOL Sponsored staff who completed their Master’s degree programme

Programme of study/ Course University/ Institution No. of staff

1.2.1 MA - Distance Education (MADE) IGNOU x 1

1.2.2 MA – Editing and Publishing USQ x 1

1.2.3 Master of  Instructional Design & Technology Open University of Malaysia (OUM) x 1

1.3  Sponsored Staff who completed PGD programmes during 2015/16

Programme of study/ Course University/ Institution No. of staff

1.3.1 Certified Internal Auditor BAC x 1

1.3.2 PGD in ICT Global e-Schools & Communities Initiative (GeSCI) x 1

1.4  BOCODOL Sponsored Staff who completed their Bachelor’s degree programmes during 2015

Programme of study/ Course University/ Institution No. of staff

1.4.1 BCom (HR &IR) BOCODOL x 1

1.4.2 BA (Educational Psychology) UNISA x 1

1.4.3 Bachelor of Business Admin MANCOSA x 1

1.5 Sponsored staff who completed Diploma programmes

Programme of study/ Course University/ Institution No. of staff

1.5.1 Diploma in Archives & Records Management IDM x 1

1.6 Sponsored staff who completed Certificate for Distance Education Practitioners (CDEP)

Programme of study/ Course University/ Institution No. of staff

1.6.1 CDEP BOCODOL x 3

2.1 BOCODOL Sponsored Staff with on-going PhD programme of study

Programme of study/ Course University/ Institution No. of staff Current status Expected date of Completion

2.1.1 PhD Curriculum Development University of 
Stellenbosch (USB)

x 1 On-going August 2016

2.1.2 PhD Marketing North-West University x 1 On-going

2.2  BOCODOL Sponsored Staff with on-going Masters Degree Programmes

Programme of study/ course University/ Institution No. of staff Current status Expected date of completion

2.2.1 MA Finance & Investment Control AMITY x 4 Submission of 
Dissertations

Nov/ Dec, 2016

2.2.2 MBA-IB AMITY x 5 Submission of 
Dissertations

Nov/ Dec, 2016

2.2.3 MADE IGNOU x4 Completed Delayed Certification from IGNOU 
to date

2.2.4 MADE IGNOU x 1 On-going December 2016

2.2.5 Masters in Instructional Design Malaysia Open University 
(OUM)

x1 On-going

2.3 Sponsored Staff with on-going Degree level programmes of study

Programme of study/ course University/ Institution No. of staff Current status Expected date of completion

2.3.1 BA Finance & Investment AMITY x 1 On-going Nov/ Dec 2016

2.3.2 BSc in Computing BAC x 1 On-going Still to re-take some course

Appendix 1
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BOCODOL Learners in an orientation session
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BOCODOL Highlights

The Minister of Education and Skills Develop-
ment Hon. Dr. Unity Dow and Professor Asha 
Kanwar with some of the dignitaries after she 
had officially opened the Academic Board as 
well as the Executive Governing Board meet-
ing for the Commonwealth Executives Masters 
in Business Administration and Public Admin-
istration. The meetings were held at Phakalane 
Golf Estate on the 19th and 20th October 2015.

In the picture there is the then Permanent Sec-
retary Mr. Richard Matlhare with some of the 
Deans from reputable universities within the 
Commonwealth which offer the programme. 
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BOCODOL Highlights

On 4th March 2016 BOCODOL launched the 
online services which comprised online ap-
plication, registration, payment and library 
online services. The launch was performed 
by the Assistant Minister of Education and 
Skills Development Hon. Fidelis Molao. In the 
picture he is seen with the BOCODOL Board 
Chairperson Mr. Abel Modungwa, BOCODOL 
Executive Director Dr. Daniel Tau, HRDC Ex-
ecutive Secretary Dr. Patrick Molutsi and Mr. 
Odirile Gabasiane Board Member (BOCODOL).

The Minister of Education and Skills Develop-
ment Hon. Dr. Unity Dow, during BOCODOL’s 
11th Graduation Ceremony at Fairgrounds in 
Gaborone on the 22nd November 2015. The 
Minister is seen with the BOCODOL Board 
Chairperson (far right) Mr. A Modungwa, Prof. 
P. Kurasha Zimbabwe Open University Vice 
Chancellor and BOCODOL Executive Director 
Dr. D. Tau. In the background are some of the 
dignitaries who graced the occasion includ-
ing BOCODOL Board members.
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Annual Financial Statements for the year
ended 31 March 2016
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The reports and statements set out below comprise the annual financial statements presented to the 
members:

Index           Page

Board of Governors’ Responsibilities and Approval     31

Independent Auditor’s Report       32 ‐ 33

Statement of Financial Position       35 - 62

Statement of Comprehensive Income      36

Statement of Changes in Equity       37

Statement of Cash Flows        38

Accounting Policies         39 ‐ 49

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements      50 ‐ 60

The following supplementary information does not form part of the annual financial statements and is 
unaudited: 

Detailed Statement of Comprehensive Income     61 ‐ 62
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The Board of Governors of Botswana College of Distance and Open Learning are required in terms of the Botswana College of 
Distance and Open Learning Act, 1998 to maintain adequate accounting records and are responsible for the content and integrity 
of the annual financial statements and related financial information included in this report. It is their responsibility to ensure that 
the annual financial statements fairly present the state of affairs of the College as at the end of the financial year and the results 
of	its	operations	and	cash	flows	for	the	period	then	ended,	in	conformity	with	International	Financial	Reporting	Standards.	The	
external auditors are engaged to express an independent opinion on the annual financial statements.

The annual financial statements are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and are based upon 
appropriate accounting policies consistently applied and supported by reasonable and prudent judgments and estimates.

The Board of Governors acknowledge that they are ultimately responsible for the system of internal financial control established 
by the College and place considerable importance on maintaining a strong control environment. To enable the Board of Gover-
nors to meet these responsibilities, the board sets standards for internal control aimed at reducing the risk of error or loss in a cost 
effective manner. The standards include the proper delegation of responsibilities within a clearly defined framework, effective 
accounting procedures and adequate segregation of duties to ensure an acceptable level of risk. These controls are monitored 
throughout the College and all employees are required to maintain the highest ethical standards in ensuring the College’s busi-
ness is conducted in a manner that in all reasonable circumstances is above reproach. The focus of risk management in the College 
is on identifying, assessing, managing and monitoring all known forms of risk across the College. While operating risk cannot be 
fully eliminated, the College endeavours to minimise it by ensuring that appropriate infrastructure, controls, systems and ethical 
behaviour are applied and managed within predetermined procedures and constraints.

The Board of Governors are of the opinion, based on the information and explanations given by management, that the system 
of internal control provides reasonable assurance that the financial records may be relied on for the preparation of the annual 
financial statements. However, any system of internal financial control can provide only reasonable, and not absolute, assurance 
against material misstatement or loss.

The	Board	of	Governors	have	reviewed	the	College’s	cash	flow	forecast	for	the	year	to	31	March	2017	and,	in	the	light	of	this	review	
and the current financial position, they are satisfied that the College has access to adequate resources to continue in operational 
existence for the foreseeable future.

The external auditors are responsible for independently reviewing and reporting on the College’s annual financial statements. The 
annual financial statements have been examined by the College’s external auditors and their report is presented on pages 32 to 
33.

The annual financial statements set out on pages 6 to 30, which have been prepared on the going concern basis, were approved 
by the board of directors on                                 and were signed on its behalf by:

       

Board Chairperson        Executive Director
Gaborone         Gaborone

Board of Governors’ Responsibilities and Approval

Annual Financial Statements for the year
ended 31 March 2016

_________________________ _________________________

23 AUG 2016______________
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Independent Auditor’s Report

To the members of Botswana College of Distance and Open Learning

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying  annual financial statements of Botswana College of Distance and Open Learning, which 
comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 March 2016, and the statement of comprehensive income, statement of 
changes	in	equity	and	statement	of	cash	flows	for	the	year	then	ended,	and	a	summary	of	significant	accounting	policies	and	
other explanatory notes, as set out on pages 34 to 60.

Board of Governors’ Responsibility for the Annual Financial Statements

The College’s Board of Governors is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these annual financial statements in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and requirements of the Botswana College of Distance and Open 
Learning Act, 1998, and for such internal control as the Board of Governors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of 
annual financial statements that are free from material misstatements, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these annual financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in 
accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and 
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the annual financial statements are free from material mis-
statement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the annual financial 
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material mis-
statement of the annual financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor con-
siders internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the annual financial statements in order to 
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the ef-
fectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and 
the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the annual 
financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Opinion

In our opinion, the annual financial statements give a true and fair view of, the financial position of Botswa-
na College of Distance and Open Learning as at 31 March 2016, and its financial performance and its cash 
flows	for	the	year	then	ended	in	accordance	with	International	Financial	Reporting	Standards.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

As required by the Botswana College of Distance and Open Learning Act, 1998 we report to you, based on 
our audit, that:

•	 we have obtained all the information and explanations which to the best of our knowledge and belief 
were necessary for the purposes of our audit;

•	 in our opinion proper books of account have been kept by the company, so far as appears from our 
examination of those books; and

•	 the company’s statement of financial position and the Statement of Comprehensive Income are in 
agreement with the books of account.

 
__________________________________________   __________________________
Chartered Accountants                      Gaborone
Certified Auditor: Madhavan Venkatachary (Memb No: 20030049)

Member of Grant Thornton International Ltd
Offices in Gaborone & Francistown

29 AUG 2016
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            Figures in Pula                               Note                   2016      2015
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Statement of Financial Position
as at 31 March 2016

            Figures in Pula                               Note                   2016      2015

 
3 

 
11 431 308 

 
11 694 595 

4 113 188 932 115 363 600 

 124 620 240 127 058 195 

 
 

6 

 
 

6 209 858 

 
 

3 148 489 
7 419 517 5 344 931 

 6 629 375 8 493 420 

 131 249 615 135 551 615 

   

  
(15 391 545) 

 
(11 704 952) 

   

 
8 

 
122 341 588 

 
126 602 381 

 144 979 101 389 

 122 486 567 126 703 770 

 
 

9 

 
 

5 806 933 

 
 

8 727 359 
10 18 347 660 11 825 438 

 24 154 593 20 552 797 

 146 641 160 147 256 567 

 131 249 615 135 551 615 

	

Figures in Pula 
 
Assets 

Non‐Current Assets 
Investment property 
Property, plant and equipment 

 
 
Current Assets 
Trade and other receivables 
Cash and cash equivalents 

 
Total Assets 

 
Equity and Liabilities 

Equity 
Accumulated loss 

 
Liabilities 

Non‐Current Liabilities 
Capital grants 
Retention payable 

 
 
Current Liabilities 
Deferred revenue 
Trade and other payables 

 
Total Liabilities 

Total Equity and Liabilities 
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Statement of Comprehensive Income

            Figures in Pula                         Note           2016      2015

Revenue
Government grants received
Other income
Amortisation of capital grants
Operating expenses
Employee expenses
Tutor and writer expenses

Operating (deficit)/surplus
Finance income
Finance costs

(Deficit)/surplus before taxation
Taxation
(Deficit)/surplus for the year

Other comprehensive income
Total comprehensive (loss)/income for the year

11  19 707 279 22 448 243
12  70 138 247 66 081 025
12     3 399 549 5 305 676
12     7 199 053 8 491 391
             (40 484 167) (38 419 453)
             (57 735 570) (52 031 522)
  (5 852 413) (6 018 932)

13  (3 628 022) 5 856 428
14                                 ‐ 7 105
15                     (58 571) ‐

 (3 686 593)                           5 863 533
16                                          ‐                                              ‐
               (3 686 593) 5 863 533
                                 ‐ ‐
               (3 686 593) 5 863 533

for the year ended 31 March 2016

        Figures in Pula                                 Accumulated loss  Total Equity
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            Figures in Pula                         Note           2016      2015

Balance at 01 April 2014
Profit for the year
Other comprehensive income

Total comprehensive income for the year

Balance at 01 April 2015
Loss for the year
Other comprehensive income

Total comprehensive loss for the year
Balance at 31 March 2016

     (17 568 485)                  (17 568 485)  
                                   5 863 533                      5 863 533
        ‐            ‐ 
  
       (4 726 714)           (4 726 714) 

     (11 704 952)                  (11 704 952)
       (3 686 593)                    (3 686 593) 
         ‐             ‐

        (3 686 593)        (3 686 593)  
      (15 391 545)                  (15 391 545)

        Figures in Pula                                 Accumulated loss  Total Equity

Statement of Changes in Equity
for the year ended 31 March 2016
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Statement of Cash Flows

            Figures in Pula                            Note          2016                         2015

for the year ended 31 March 2016

Cash flows from operating activities
Cash generated from/(used in) operations
Finance income
Finance costs
Net cash from operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Proceeds on sale of property, plant and equipment
Movement in retention
Net cash from investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities

Movement in project and capital grants

Total cash movement for the year    
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year
Total cash and cash equivalents at end of the year

18                            (167 169) 1 707 942
    ‐                                    7 105

               (58 571) ‐
                                          (225 740)  1 715 047
  

4                         (4 761 099) (1 617 017)
                                            ‐ 59 000
       43 590 (56 000)
                         (4 717 509) (1 614 017)
  

19          17 835 506 309
 

(4 925 414)                            607 339
                            5 344 931 4 737 592
7                              419 517 5 344 931
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            Figures in Pula                            Note          2016                         2015
The annual financial statements have been prepared 
in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards, and the Botswana College of Distance and 
Open Learning Act,1998. The annual financial state-
ments have been prepared on the historical cost basis, 
except for the measurement of investment properties 
and certain financial instruments at fair value, and in-
corporate the principal accounting policies set out be-
low. They are presented in Pula.

These accounting policies are consistent with the pre-
vious period.

1.1    Significant judgements and sources of estima-
tion uncertainty

In preparing the annual financial statements, manage-
ment is required to make estimates and assumptions 
that affect the amounts represented in the annual fi-
nancial statements and related disclosures. Use of avail-
able information and the application of judgement is 
used in the formation of estimates. Actual results in the 
future could differ from these estimates which may be 
material to the annual financial statements. Significant 
judgements include:

Trade and other receivables

The College assesses its trade receivables for impair-
ment at the end of each reporting period. In determin-
ing whether an impairment loss should be recorded 
in profit or loss, the College makes judgements as to 
whether there is observable data indicating a measur-
able	decrease	in	the	estimated	future	cash	flows	from	

a financial asset.
The impairment for trade receivables is calculated 
based on historical loss ratios, adjusted for national 
and industry‐specific economic conditions and other 
indicators present at the reporting date that correlate 
with defaults on the portfolio. These annual loss ratios 
are applied to loan balances in the portfolio and scaled 
to the estimated loss emergence period.

Fair value estimation

The carrying value less impairment provision of trade 
receivables and payables are assumed to approximate 
their fair values. The fair value of financial liabilities for 
disclosure purposes is estimated by discounting the 
future	 contractual	 cash	 flows	 at	 the	 current	 market	
interest rate that is available to the College for similar 
financial instruments.

Impairment testing

The recoverable amounts of cash‐generating units and 
individual assets have been determined based on the 
higher of value‐in‐use calculations and fair values less 
costs to sell. These calculations require the use of esti-
mates and assumptions. It is reasonably possible that 
the [name a key assumption] assumption may change 
which may then impact our estimations and may then 
require a material adjustment to the carrying value of 
assets.

The College reviews and tests the carrying value of as-
sets when events or changes in circumstances suggest 
that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. As-
sets are grouped at the lowest level for which identifi-

1. Presentation of Annual Financial Statements

Accounting Policies
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able	cash	flows	are	largely	independent	of	cash	flows	
of other assets and liabilities. If there are indications 
that impairment may have occurred, estimates are 
prepared	of	expected	future	cash	flows	for	each	group	
of	 assets.	 Expected	 future	 cash	 flows	 used	 to	 deter-
mine the value in use assets are inherently uncertain 
and could materially change over time. They are sig-
nificantly affected by a number of factors including 
production estimates, supply and demand, together 
with	economic	 factors	 such	as	exchange	 rates,	 infla-
tion and interest.

Provisions

Provisions were raised and management determined 
an estimate based on the information available.

Contingent liabilities

Management applies its judgement to facts and ad-
vice it receives from its attorneys, advocates and other 
advisors in assessing if an obligation is probable, more 
likely than not, or remote. This judgement application 
is used to determine if the obligation is recognised as 
a liability or disclosed as a contingent liability.

Useful life and residual value of property, plant and 
equipment

The estimates of useful lives as translated into depre-
ciation rates are detailed in property, plant and equip-
ment policy on the annual financial statements. These 
rates and residual lives of the assets are reviewed an-
nually taking cognisance of the forecasted commer-
cial and economic realities and through benchmark-
ing of accounting treatments in the industry.

1.2    Investment property

Investment property is recognised as an asset when, 

and only when, it is probable that the future economic 
benefits that are associated with the investment prop-
erty	will	flow	to	the	College,	and	the	cost	of	the	invest-
ment property can be measured reliably.

Investment property is initially recognised at cost. 
Transaction costs are included in the initial measure-
ment.

Costs include costs incurred initially and costs incurred 
subsequently to add to, or to replace a part of, or ser-
vice a property. If a replacement part is recognised in 
the carrying amount of the investment property, the 
carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised.

Cost model

Investment property is carried at cost less deprecia-
tion less any accumulated impairment losses.

Depreciation is provided to write down the cost, less 
estimated residual value over the useful life of the 
property, which is as follows:

 Item   Useful life 
 Freehold land  indefinite 
 Buildings  50 years

1.3    Property, plant and equipment

The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment 
is recognised as an asset when:
•	it	is	probable	that	future	economic	benefits	
associated	with	 the	 item	will	 flow	 to	 the	 College;	
and
•	the	cost	of	the	item	can	be	measured	reliably.

Property, plant and equipment is initially measured at 
cost.
Costs include costs incurred initially to acquire or con-

Accounting Policies
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struct an item of property, plant and equipment and 
costs incurred subsequently to add to, replace part 
of, or service it. If a replacement cost is recognised in 
the carrying amount of an item of property, plant and 
equipment, the carrying amount of the replaced part 
is derecognised.

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated on the 
straight line basis over their expected useful lives to 
their estimated residual value.

Property, plant and equipment is carried at cost less 
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses. 
The useful lives of items of property, plant and equip-
ment have been assessed as follows:

Item                  Average useful life
Buildings    50 years  
Furniture and fixtures   5 years 
Motor vehicles   4 years 
Furniture and Office equipment 5 years 
IT equipment    4 years

The residual value, useful life and depreciation method 
of each asset are reviewed at the end of each report-
ing period. If the expectations differ from previous 
estimates, the change is accounted for as a change in 
accounting estimate.

The depreciation charge for each period is recognised 
in profit or loss unless it is included in the carrying 
amount of another asset. 
The gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an 
item of property, plant and equipment is included in 
profit or loss when the item
is derecognised. 

The gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an 
item of property, plant and equipment is determined 
as the difference between the net disposal proceeds, if 

any, and the carrying amount of the item.
1.4    Financial instruments
Classification

The College classifies financial assets and financial li-
abilities into the following categories:
•	 Financial assets at fair value through    

profit or loss ‐ held for trading
•	 Loans and receivables
•	 Available‐for‐sale financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement
Financial instruments are recognised initially when the 
College becomes a party to the contractual provisions 
of the instruments.

The College classifies financial instruments, or their 
component parts, on initial recognition as a financial 
asset, a financial liability or an equity instrument in 
accordance with the substance of the contractual ar-
rangement.

Financial instruments are measured initially at fair val-
ue, except for equity investments for which a fair value 
is not determinable, which are measured at cost and 
are classified as available‐for‐sale financial assets.

For financial instruments which are not at fair value 
through profit or loss, transaction costs are included in 
the initial measurement of the instrument.

Transaction costs on financial instruments at fair value 
through profit or loss are recognised in the Statement 
of Comprehensive Income.

Subsequent measurement

Financial instruments at fair value through profit or 
loss are subsequently measured at fair value, with 
gains and losses arising from changes in fair value be-

Accounting Policies
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ing included in profit or loss for the period.
Dividend income is recognised in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income as part of other income when 
the College’s right to receive payment is established.

Loans and receivables are subsequently measured at 
amortised cost, using the effective interest method, 
less accumulated impairment losses.

Available‐for‐sale financial assets are subsequently 
measured at fair value. This excludes equity invest-
ments for which a fair value is not determinable, 
which are measured at cost less accumulated impair-
ment losses.

Gains and losses arising from changes in fair value are 
recognised in other comprehensive income and accu-
mulated in equity until the asset is disposed of or de-
termined to be impaired. Interest on available‐for‐sale 
financial assets calculated using the effective interest 
method is recognised in Statement of Comprehensive 
Income as part of other income. Dividends received 
on available‐for‐ sale equity instruments are recog-
nised in Statement of Comprehensive Income as part 
of other income when the College’s right to receive 
payment is established.

Changes in fair value of available‐for‐sale financial as-
sets denominated in a foreign currency are analysed 
between translation differences resulting from chang-
es in amortised cost and other changes in the carrying 
amount. 
Translation differences on monetary items are recog-
nised in Statement of Comprehensive Income, while 
translation differences on non‐monetary items are 
recognised in other comprehensive income and accu-
mulated in equity.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost are subsequently 
measured at amortised cost, using the effective inter-

est method.
Derecognition

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to 
receive	cash	flows	from	the	investments	have	expired	
or have been transferred and the College has trans-
ferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership. 
A financial liability is derecognised when it is extin-
guished, discharged, cancelled or
expires.
 
1.4    Financial instruments 
Impairment of financial assets

At each reporting date the College assesses all finan-
cial assets, other than those at fair value through profit 
or loss, to determine whether there is objective evi-
dence that a financial asset or group of financial assets 
has been impaired.

For amounts due to the College, significant financial 
difficulties of the debtor, probability that the debtor 
will enter bankruptcy and default of payments are all 
considered indicators of impairment.

Impairment losses are recognised in Statement of 
Comprehensive Income.

Impairment losses are reversed when an increase in 
the financial asset’s recoverable amount can be relat-
ed objectively to an event occurring after the impair-
ment was recognised, subject to the restriction that 
the carrying amount of the financial asset at the date 
that the impairment is reversed shall not exceed what 
the carrying amount would have been had the impair-
ment not been recognised.

Reversals of impairment losses are recognised in State-
ment of Comprehensive Income.

Accounting Policies
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Where financial assets are impaired through use of 
an allowance account, the amount of the loss is rec-
ognised in profit or loss within operating expenses. 
When such assets are written off, the write off is made 
against the relevant allowance account. Subsequent 
recoveries of amounts previously written off are cred-
ited against operating expenses.

Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are measured at initial recognition 
at fair value, and are subsequently measured at am-
ortised cost using the effective interest rate method. 
Appropriate allowances for estimated irrecoverable 
amounts are recognised in profit or loss when there 
is objective evidence that the asset is impaired. Sig-
nificant financial difficulties of the debtor, probability 
that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or financial re-
organisation, and default or delinquency in payments 
are considered indicators that the trade receivable is 
impaired. The allowance recognised is measured as 
the difference between the asset’s carrying amount 
and	the	present	value	of	estimated	future	cash	flows	
discounted at the effective interest rate computed at 
initial recognition.

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through 
the use of an allowance account, and the amount of 
the loss is recognised in Statement of Comprehensive 
Income within operating expenses. When a trade re-
ceivable is uncollectable, it is written off against the 
allowance account for trade receivables. Subsequent 
recoveries of amounts previously written off are cred-
ited against operating expenses in Statement of Com-
prehensive Income.

Trade and other receivables are classified as loans and 
receivables.

Trade and other payables

Trade payables are initially measured at fair value, and 
are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using 
the effective interest rate method.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and 
demand deposits, and other short‐term highly liquid 
investments that are readily convertible to a known 
amount of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk 
of changes in value. These are initially and subsequent-
ly recorded at fair value.

Bank overdraft and borrowings

Bank overdrafts and borrowings are initially measured 
at fair value, and are subsequently measured at am-
ortised cost, using the effective interest rate method. 
Any difference between the proceeds (net of transac-
tion costs) and the settlement or redemption of bor-
rowings is recognised over the term of the borrowings 
in accordance with the College’s accounting policy for 
borrowing costs.

1.5    Tax

Tax expenses

No provision for taxation is made as thee College is ex-
empt from income tax under the second schedule of 
Income Tax Act.

1.6    Leases

A lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers sub-
stantially all the risks and rewards incidental to own-
ership. A lease is classified as an operating lease if it 
does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards 
incidental to ownership.

Accounting Policies
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Operating leases ‐ lessor

Operating lease income is recognised as an income on 
a straight‐line basis over the lease term.

Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arrang-
ing operating leases are added to the carrying amount 
of the leased asset and recognised as an expense over 
the lease term on the same basis as the lease income.

Income for leases is disclosed under revenue in State-
ment of Comprehensive Income.

Operating leases – lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an ex-
pense on a straight‐line basis over the lease term. 
The difference between the amounts recognised as 
an expense and the contractual payments are recog-
nised as an operating lease asset. This liability is not 
discounted.

Any contingent rents are expensed in the period they 
are incurred.

1.7    Impairment of assets

The College assesses at each end of the reporting pe-
riod whether there is any indication that an asset may 
be impaired. If any such indication exists, the College 
estimates the recoverable amount of the asset.

If there is any indication that an asset may be impaired, 
the recoverable amount is estimated for the individu-
al asset. If it is not possible to estimate the recover-
able amount of the individual asset, the recoverable 
amount of the cash‐generating unit to which the asset 
belongs is determined.

The recoverable amount of an asset or a cash‐generat-

ing unit is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell 
and its value in use.
If the recoverable amount of an asset is less than its 
carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset is 
reduced to its recoverable amount. That reduction is 
an impairment loss.

An impairment loss of assets carried at cost less any ac-
cumulated depreciation or amortisation is recognised 
immediately in profit or loss. Any impairment loss of 
a revalued asset is treated as a revaluation decrease.

An entity assesses at each reporting date whether 
there is any indication that an impairment loss recog-
nised in prior periods for assets other than goodwill 
may no longer exist or may have decreased. If any such 
indication exists, the recoverable amounts of those as-
sets are estimated.

The increased carrying amount of an asset other than 
goodwill attributable to a reversal of an impairment 
loss does not exceed the carrying amount that would 
have been determined had no impairment loss been 
recognised for the asset in prior periods.

A reversal of an impairment loss of assets carried at 
cost less accumulated depreciation or amortisation 
other than goodwill is recognised immediately in 
profit or loss. Any reversal of an impairment loss of a 
revalued asset is treated as a revaluation increase.

1.8    Employee benefits

Short‐term employee benefits

The cost of short‐term employee benefits, (those pay-
able within 12 months after the service is rendered, 
such as paid vacation leave and sick leave, bonuses, 
and non‐monetary benefits such as medical care), are 
recognised in the period in which the service is ren-
dered and are not discounted.

Accounting Policies
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The expected cost of compensated absences is recog-
nised as an expense as the employees render services 
that increase their entitlement or, in the case of non‐
accumulating absences, when the absence occurs.

The expected cost of profit sharing and bonus pay-
ments is recognised as an expense when there is a le-
gal or constructive obligation to make such payments 
as a result of past performance.

Gratuities are paid to employees of the College based 
on contractual terms of employment. The costs are 
recognised as staff cost in the Statement of Compre-
hensive Income

Defined contribution plans

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit 
plans are charged as an expense as they fall due.

Payments made to industry‐managed (or state plans) 
retirement benefit schemes are dealt with as defined 
contribution plans where the College’s obligation un-
der the schemes is equivalent to those arising in a de-
fined contribution retirement benefit plan.

1.9    Government grants

Government grants are recognised when there is rea-
sonable assurance that:
•	 the College will comply with the conditions           

attaching to them; and
•	 the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised as income over 
the periods necessary to match them with the related 
costs that they are intended to compensate.

A government grant that becomes receivable as com-
pensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for 

the purpose of giving immediate financial support to 
the entity with no future related costs is recognised as 
income of the period in which it becomes receivable.
Government grants related to assets, including non‐
monetary grants at fair value, are presented in the 
statement of financial position by setting up the grant 
as deferred income or by deducting the grant in arriv-
ing at the carrying amount of the asset.

Grants related to income are deducted from the relat-
ed expense.

Repayment of a grant related to income is applied first 
against any un‐amortised deferred credit set up in re-
spect of the grant. To the extent that the repayment 
exceeds any such deferred credit, or where no deferred 
credit exists, the repayment is recognised immediately 
as an expense.

Repayment of a grant related to an asset is recorded 
by increasing the carrying amount of the asset or re-
ducing the deferred income balance by the amount re-
payable. The cumulative additional depreciation that 
would have been recognised to date as an expense in 
the absence of the grant is recognised immediately as 
an expense.

1.10 Revenue

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable 
that	future	economic	benefits	will	flow	to	the	college	
and the revenue can be reliably measured.

Revenue comprises of student and tuition fees and is 
recognised over the period of the courses. Interest is 
recognised, in profit or loss, using the effective interest 
rate method.

Rental income on leases is recognised on a straight line 
basis over the lease term.

Accounting Policies
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2. New Standards and Interpretations

2.1    Standards and interpretations effective and 
adopted in the current year

In the current year, the College has adopted the fol-
lowing standards and interpretations that are effec-
tive for the current financial year and that are relevant 
to its operations:

Amendment to IFRS 13: Fair Value Measurement: An-
nual improvements project

The amendment clarifies that references to financial 
assets and financial liabilities in paragraphs 48–51 
and 53–56 should be read as applying to all contracts 
within the scope of, and accounted for in accordance 
with, IAS 39 or IFRS 9, regardless of whether they meet 
the definitions of financial assets or financial liabilities 
in IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation.

The effective date of the amendment is for years be-
ginning on or after 1 July 2014.

The College has adopted the amendment for the first 
time in the 2016 annual financial statements. The im-
pact of the amendment is not material. 
Amendment to IAS 24: Related Party Disclosures: An-
nual improvements project
The definition of a related party has been amended to 
include an entity, or any member of a group of which 
it is a part, which provides key management person-
nel services to the reporting entity or to the parent 
of the reporting entity (“management entity”). Dis-
closure is required of payments made to the manage-
ment entity for these services but not of payments 
made by the management entity to its directors or 
employees.

The effective date of the amendment is for years be-
ginning on or after 1 July 2014.

The College has adopted the amendment for the first 
time in the 2016 annual financial statements. The im-
pact of the amendment is not material.

2.2    Standards and interpretations not yet effective

The College has chosen not to early adopt the follow-
ing standards and interpretations, which have been 
published and are mandatory for the College’s ac-
counting periods beginning on or after 1 April 2016 
or later periods:

Amendment to IFRS 7: Financial Instruments: Disclo-
sures: Annual Improvements project

The amendment provides additional guidance re-
garding transfers with continuing involvement. Spe-
cifically,	it	provides	that	cash	flows	excludes	cash	col-
lected which must be remitted to a transferee. It also 
provides that when an entity transfers a financial as-
set but retains the right to service the asset for a fee, 
that the entity should apply the existing guidance to 
consider whether it has continuing involvement in 
the asset.

The effective date of the amendment is for years be-
ginning on or after 1 January 2016.

The College expects to adopt the amendment for the 
first time in the 2017 annual financial statements.

It is unlikely that the amendment will have a material 
impact on the College’s annual financial statements.

Disclosure Initiative: Amendment to IAS 1: Presenta-
tion of Financial Statements

The amendment provides new requirements when 
an entity presents subtotals in addition to those re-
quired by IAS 1 in its annual financial statements. It 
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also provides amended guidance concerning the 
order of presentation of the notes in the annual fi-
nancial statements, as well as guidance for identify-
ing which accounting policies should be included. It 
further clarifies that an entity’s share of comprehen-
sive income of an associate or joint venture under the 
equity method shall be presented separately into its 
share of items that a) will not be reclassified subse-
quently to profit or loss and b) that will be reclassified 
subsequently to profit or loss.

The effective date of the amendment is for years be-
ginning on or after 1 January 2016.

The College expects to adopt the amendment for the 
first time in the 2017 annual financial statements.

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments

IFRS 9 issued in November 2009 introduced new re-
quirements for the classification and measurements 
of financial assets. IFRS 9 was subsequently amended 
in October 2010 to include requirements for the clas-
sification and measurement of financial liabilities and 
for derecognition, and in November 2013 to include 
the new requirements for general hedge accounting. 
Another revised version of IFRS 9 was issued in July 
2014 mainly to include a)impairment requirements 
for financial assets and b) limited
amendments to the classification and measurement 
requirements by introducing a “fair value through 
other comprehensive income” (FVTOCI) measure-
ment category for certain simple debt instruments.

Key requirements of IFRS 9:

•	 All recognised financial assets that are within the 
scope of IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recogni-
tion and Measurement are required to be subse-
quently measured at amortised cost or fair value. 
Specifically, debt investments that are held within 

a business model whose objective is to collect the 
contractual	cash	flows,	and	that	have	contractual	
cash	 flows	 that	 are	 solely	 payments	 of	 principal	
and interest on the outstanding principal are gen-
erally measured at amortised cost at the end of 
subsequent reporting periods. Debt instruments 
that are held within a business model whose ob-
jective is achieved by both collecting contractual 
cash	 flows	 and	 selling	 financial	 assets,	 and	 that	
have contractual terms of the financial asset give 
rise	on	specified	dates	to	cash	flows	that	are	solely	
payments of principal and interest on outstanding 
principal, are measured at FVTOCI. All other debt 
and equity investments are measured at fair value 
at the end of subsequent reporting periods. In ad-
dition, under IFRS 9, entities may make an irrevo-
cable election to present subsequent changes in 
the fair value of an equity investment (that is not 
held for trading) in other comprehensive income 
with only dividend income generally recognised 
in profit or loss.

•	 With regard to the measurement of financial liabil-
ities designated as at fair value through profit or 
loss, IFRS 9 requires that the amount of change in 
the fair value of the financial liability that is attrib-
utable to changes in the credit risk of the liability 
is presented in other comprehensive income, un-
less the recognition of the effect of the changes 
of the liability’s credit risk in other comprehensive 
income would create or enlarge an accounting 
mismatch in profit or loss. Under IAS39, the entire 
amount of the change in fair value of a financial 
liability designated as at fair value through profit 
or loss is presented in profit or loss.

•	 In relation to the impairment of financial assets, 
IFRS 9 requires an expected credit loss model, as 
opposed to an incurred credit loss model under 
IAS 39. The expected credit loss model requires an 
entity to account for expected credit losses and 
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changes in those expected credit losses at each re-
porting	date	to	reflect	changes	in	credit	risk	since	
initial recognition. It is therefore no longer nec-
essary for a credit event to have occurred before 
credit losses are recognised.

•	 The new general hedge accounting requirements 
retain the three types of hedge accounting mech-
anisms currently available in IAS 39. Under IFRS 9, 
greater	flexibility	has	been	introduced	to	the	types	
of transactions eligible for hedge accounting, spe-
cifically broadening the types of instruments that 
qualify for hedging instruments and the types of 
risk components of non‐financial items that are 
eligible for hedge accounting. In addition, the ef-
fectiveness test has been replaced with the prin-
cipal of an “economic relationship”. Retrospective 
assessment of hedge effectiveness is also no long-
er required. Enhanced disclosure requirements 
about an entity’s risk management activities have 
also been introduced.

The effective date of the standard is for years begin-
ning on or after 1 January 2018.

The College expects to adopt the standard for the first 
time in the 2019 annual financial statements. The im-
pact of this standard is currently being assessed. 

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

IFRS 15 supersedes IAS 11 Construction contracts; IAS 
18 Revenue; IFRIC 13 Customer Loyalty Programmes; 
IFRIC 15 Agreements for the construction of Real Es-
tate; IFRIC 18 Transfers of Assets from Customers and 
SIC 31 Revenue ‐ Barter Transactions Involving Adver-
tising Services.

The core principle of IFRS 15 is that an entity recognis-
es revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods 

or	services	to	customers	in	an	amount	that	reflects	the	
consideration to which the entity expects to be enti-
tled in exchange for those goods or services. An entity 
recognises revenue in accordance with that core prin-
ciple by applying the following steps:

•	 Identify the contract(s) with a customer

•	 Identify the performance obligations in the 
       contract
•	 Determine the transaction price
•	 Allocate the transaction price to the performance 

obligations in the contract
•	 Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies 

a performance obligation.

IFRS 15 also includes extensive new disclosure re-
quirements.

The effective date of the standard is for years begin-
ning on or after 1 January 2017.

The College expects to adopt the standard for the first 
time in the 2018 annual financial statements. The im-
pact of this standard is currently being assessed.

IFRS 16 — Leases

IFRS 16 will supersede IAS 17 Leases, IFRIC 4 Determin-
ing whether an Arrangement contains a Lease, SIC‐15 
Operating Leases ‐ Incentives and SIC‐27 Evaluating 
the Substance of Transactions Involving the Legal 
Form of a Lease

The standard provides a single lessee accounting 
model, requiring lessees to recognise assets and lia-
bilities for all leases unless the lease term is 12 months 
or less or the underlying asset has a low value. Lessors 
continue to classify leases as operating or finance, 
with IFRS 16’s approach to lessor accounting substan-
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tially unchanged from its predecessor, IAS 17.

The effective date of the amendment is for years beginning on or after 1 January 2019.

The College expects to adopt the amendment for the first time in the 2020 annual financial statements. 
The impact of this standard is currently being assessed.
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3. Investment property 

 
2016 2015 

Cost Accumulated 
depreciation 

Carrying value Cost Accumulated 
depreciation 

Carrying value 

Investment property 13 143 255 (1 711 947) 11 431 308 13 143 255 (1 448 660) 11 694 595 
 

Reconciliation of investment property ‐ 2016 
 

Opening 
balance 

Depreciation Total 

Investment property 11 694 595 (263 287) 11 431 308 
 

Reconciliation of investment property ‐ 2015 
 

Opening 
balance 

Depreciation Total 

Investment property 11 957 385 (262 790) 11 694 595 

 
Fair value of investment properties 

  
13 200 000 

 
‐ 

 
Amounts recognised in profit and loss for the year 

   

Investment property 
 
Rental income from investment property 

  

 
 

601 508 

 

 
 

533 610 

 

The investment property is located in the premises of the College in Gaborone and in Maun and comprises a number of residential 
buildings that are leased out to third parties. These leases are negotiated with the tenants on annual basis. No contingent rents are 
charged. Management is of the opinion that the fair value of these investments would not be materially different to their carrying 
values. 

 
4. Property, plant and equipment 

 
2016 2015 

Cost Accumulated 
depreciation 

Carrying value Cost Accumulated 
depreciation 

Carrying value 

 

Buildings 121 767 816 (15 336 740) 106 431 076 121 767 816 (12 714 270) 109 053 546 
Furniture and fixtures 2 554 178 (1 741 444) 812 734 2 240 934 (1 261 837) 979 097 
IT equipment 7 569 550 (6 527 171) 1 042 379 6 719 002 (5 132 010) 1 586 992 
Motor vehicles 5 228 670 (3 856 980) 1 371 690 4 413 877 (3 282 842) 1 131 035 
Office equipment 14 320 711 (12 612 498) 1 708 213 13 405 188 (10 792 258) 2 612 930 
Work in progress 1 822 840 ‐ 1 822 840 ‐ ‐ ‐ 

Total  153 263 765 (40 074 833)  113 188 932  148 546 817  (33 183 217)  115 363 600 

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements
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Figures in Pula 2016 2015 

4. Property, plant and equipment (continued) 

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment ‐ 2016 
 

Opening 
carrying value 

Additions Depreciation  Closing 
carrying value 

Buildings 109 053 546 ‐ (2 622 470) 106 431 076 
Furniture and fixtures 979 097 313 244 (479 607) 812 734 
IT equipment 1 586 992 894 700 (1 439 313) 1 042 379 
Motor vehicles 1 131 035 814 792 (574 137) 1 371 690 
Office equipment 2 612 930 915 523 (1 820 240) 1 708 213 
Work in progress ‐ 1 822 840 ‐ 1 822 840 

115 363 600 4 761 099 (6 935 767)      113 188 932 
 

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment ‐ 2015 
 

Opening 
carrying value 

Additions Transfers Depreciation Impairment 
loss 

Closing 
carrying value 

Buildings 113 940 860 ‐ ‐ (2 487 314) (2 400 000) 109 053 546 
Furniture and fixtures 730 128 503 891 ‐ (254 922) ‐ 979 097 
IT equipment 1 499 975 427 825 471 878 (812 686) ‐ 1 586 992 
Motor vehicles 1 644 204 ‐ ‐ (513 169) ‐ 1 131 035 
Office equipment 4 248 027 685 301 (471 878) (1 848 520) ‐ 2 612 930 

122 063 194 1 617 017 ‐ (5 916 611) (2 400 000)     115 363 600 
 

5. Inventories 
 

Library Collection 2 379 672 2 161 277 

 2 379 672 2 161 277 
Provision for inventory (2 379 672) (2 161 277) 

 ‐ ‐ 
 

6. Trade and other receivables 
 

Student debtors 1 786 879 1 719 134 
Other receivable 385 229 226 925 
Receivables from Government 3 863 763 797 529 
Staff related receivables 67 604 1 234 
Prepayments 38 664 355 948 
Deposits 67 620 47 620 
Value added tax 99 99 

 6 209 858 3 148 489 
 

Fair value of trade and other receivables 
 

Trade and other receivables 6 209 858 3 148 489 
 

The carrying amounts of trade and other receivables approximates its fair value. 
 

Trade and other receivables past due but not impaired 
 

Trade and other receivables which are less than 3 months past due are not considered to be impaired. At 31 March 2016, there were no 
trade and other receivables that are past due but not impaired. 

 
3 months past due 1 786 879 1 697 552 

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements
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6. Trade and other receivables (continued) 

Trade and other receivables impaired 

As of 31 March 2016, trade and other receivables of P 351 226 (2015: P 395 529) were impaired and provided for. 
 

The amount of the provision was P 351 226 as of 31 March 2016 (2015: P 395 529). 
 
The ageing of these receivables is as follows: 

 

 

Over 6 months 
 

351 226 
 

395 529 

 
Reconciliation of provision for impairment of trade and other receivables 

  

 

Opening balance 
 

395 529 
 

885 096 
Amounts recovered/collected (44 303) (489 567) 

 351 226 395 529 
 

7. Cash and cash equivalents 
 

Cash and cash equivalents consist of: 
 

Bank balances 419 517 5 344 931 
 

Credit quality of cash at bank and short term deposits, excluding cash on hand 
 

The credit quality of cash at bank and short term deposits, excluding cash on hand that are neither past due nor impaired can be 
assessed by reference to historical information about counterparty default rates. The commercial banks in Botswana are not rated, 
however, the College's bankers are subsidiaries of rated banks in South Africa. 

 
8. Capital grants 

 
Reconciliation of capital grants ‐ 2016 

 
Opening 
balance 

Additions Utilised during 
the year 

Total 

Capital grants 126 602 381 2 938 260 (7 199 053) 122 341 588 
 

Reconciliation of capital grants ‐ 2015 
 

Opening 
balance 

Additions Utilised during 
the year 

Total 

Capital grants 134 020 580 1 073 195 (8 491 394) 126 602 381 
 

The College receives grants from Government based on the budget approved by the Board and the Ministry of education. The grant is 
allocated between revenue and capital expenditure by the Board based on the approved budget. The funds are not refundable by the 
College to Government under any circumstances. 

 
9.       Deferred revenue 

 
Deferred income 
Current liabilities                                                                                                                                                                             5 806 933                8 727 359 

 

 
Current liabilities 

 

‐Tuition fee 5 594 591 2 907 259 
‐Other projects 212 342 5 820 100 

 5 806 933 8 727 359 

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements
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10.    Trade and other payables 
 
Trade payables 

 

 
 

57 627 

 

 
 

229 344 
Other payables 5 022 215 1 032 844 
Accrued expenses 7 054 680 3 133 871 
Staff related accruals 6 152 371 7 409 445 
Withholding Tax Payable 60 767 19 934 

 18 347 660 11 825 438 

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements
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11.				Revenue	

	

	

Student application and tuition fees 19 707 279 22 448 243 

 
12.    Other income 

  

 

Government grants 
 

70 138 247 
 

66 081 025 
Amortisation of capital grant 7 199 053 8 491 391 
Other income 2 761 541 4 713 066 
Profit on sale of assets ‐ 59 000 
Rental income 601 508 533 610 
Tender sales 36 500 ‐ 

 80 736 849 79 878 092 

 
13.    Operating (deficit)/surplus 

  

Operating (deficit)/surplus for the year is stated after accounting for the following:   
 

Operating lease charges 
Premises 

• Contractual amounts 

 

 
 

667 016 

 

 
 

604 119 

 
Amount expensed in respect of retirement benefit plans: 

 
66 079 651 

 
59 072 771 

Auditors remuneration 199 403 261 990 
Board expenses 64 407 127 006 
Consulting and internal audit 196 400 605 099 
Depreciation on investment property 263 286 262 787 
Depreciation on property, plant and equipment 6 935 767 5 916 612 
Employee costs 57 735 570 52 031 522 
Examination expenses 1 145 028 861 850 
Hire charges 2 071 336 1 834 003 
Impairment on property, plant and equipment ‐ 2 400 000 
Insurance 1 062 583 1 064 204 
Learner material 5 086 070 5 474 707 
Library books 218 395 271 753 
Library resources 30 952 57 426 
License Fees 1 179 141 958 348 
Partnership fees, development and maintenance 3 355 441 3 274 115 
Profit on sale of property, plant and equipment ‐ (59 000) 
Repairs and maintenance 3 505 849 3 249 715 
Teaching aids and audio cassettes 72 281 64 698 
Training 149 537 146 499 
Travel and accommodation 1 666 866 1 362 172 
Tutor expenses and writer expenses 5 852 413 6 018 932 

 
14.    Finance income 

  

 

Interest revenue 
Foreign exchange gain 

 

 
‐ 

 

 
7 105 

 
15.    Finance costs 

  

 

Foreign exchange loss 
 

58 571 
 

‐ 

 
16.    Taxation 

  

 

No provision for income tax is made as the College is exempt from income tax under the second schedule of the Income Tax Act. 
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11.				Revenue	

	

	

Student application and tuition fees 19 707 279 22 448 243 

 
12.    Other income 

  

 

Government grants 
 

70 138 247 
 

66 081 025 
Amortisation of capital grant 7 199 053 8 491 391 
Other income 2 761 541 4 713 066 
Profit on sale of assets ‐ 59 000 
Rental income 601 508 533 610 
Tender sales 36 500 ‐ 

 80 736 849 79 878 092 

 
13.    Operating (deficit)/surplus 

  

Operating (deficit)/surplus for the year is stated after accounting for the following:   
 

Operating lease charges 
Premises 

• Contractual amounts 

 

 
 

667 016 

 

 
 

604 119 

 
Amount expensed in respect of retirement benefit plans: 

 
66 079 651 

 
59 072 771 

Auditors remuneration 199 403 261 990 
Board expenses 64 407 127 006 
Consulting and internal audit 196 400 605 099 
Depreciation on investment property 263 286 262 787 
Depreciation on property, plant and equipment 6 935 767 5 916 612 
Employee costs 57 735 570 52 031 522 
Examination expenses 1 145 028 861 850 
Hire charges 2 071 336 1 834 003 
Impairment on property, plant and equipment ‐ 2 400 000 
Insurance 1 062 583 1 064 204 
Learner material 5 086 070 5 474 707 
Library books 218 395 271 753 
Library resources 30 952 57 426 
License Fees 1 179 141 958 348 
Partnership fees, development and maintenance 3 355 441 3 274 115 
Profit on sale of property, plant and equipment ‐ (59 000) 
Repairs and maintenance 3 505 849 3 249 715 
Teaching aids and audio cassettes 72 281 64 698 
Training 149 537 146 499 
Travel and accommodation 1 666 866 1 362 172 
Tutor expenses and writer expenses 5 852 413 6 018 932 

 
14.    Finance income 

  

 

Interest revenue 
Foreign exchange gain 

 

 
‐ 

 

 
7 105 

 
15.    Finance costs 

  

 

Foreign exchange loss 
 

58 571 
 

‐ 

 
16.    Taxation 

  

 

No provision for income tax is made as the College is exempt from income tax under the second schedule of the Income Tax Act. 

11.    Revenue
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17.    Auditors' remuneration 
 
Fees 

 

 
 

199 403 

 

 
 

261 990 

 
18.    Cash used in operations 

  

 

(Deficit)/surplus before taxation 
Adjustments for: 
Depreciation and amortisation 

 

(3 686 593) 
 

7 199 053 

 

5 863 533 
 

6 179 399 
Profit on sale of assets ‐ (59 000) 
Interest received 
Finance costs 
Impairment loss 

‐ 
58 571 

‐ 

(7 105) 
‐ 

2 400 000 
Amortisation of capital grant during the year 
Changes in working capital: 
Trade and other receivables 

(7 199 053) 
 

(3 061 369) 

(8 491 394) 
 

(1 648 520) 
Trade and other payables 6 522 222 (2 528 971) 

 (167 169) 1 707 942 

 
19.    Movement in grants 

  

 

Capital grants received during the year 
 

3 437 624 
 

1 073 195 
Project grants utilised during the year (1 564 149) (3 497 825) 
Grants utilised to acquire plant and equipment during the year (4 761 099) ‐ 
Students deferred revenue received during the year 2 905 459 2 930 939 

 17 835 506 309 

 
20.    Related parties 

  

 
` 

Relationships   

 
Related party balances 

  

 

Ministry of Education and skills Development 
Trade and other receivables 

 

 
3 863 763 

 

 
2 896 317 

 
Related party transactions 

  

 

Government Grants  
Ministry of Education and Skills Development  
Subvention 

 

 
 

71 387 930 

 

 
 

73 559 421 
Capital grants 2 938 260 1 073 195 

 74 326 190 74 632 616 

 
Board sitting fees 
Board sitting fees 

 
 

64 407 

 
 

127 006 

 
Remuneration of directors and other key management 
Salaries and other benefits 

 
 

7 174 630 

 
 

5 157 509 
Severance and leave pay 232 368 208 516 

 7 406 998 5 366 025 

               Figures in Pula                            2016       2015
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-	 -	 122 486 567 122 486 567 

Current Liabilities 
Trade and other payables 
Deferred income 

10 
9 

-	
-	

-	

-	

-	

18 347 660 
‐ 

18 347 660 

18 347 660 

18 347 660 

‐ 
5 806 933 

5 806 933 

128 293 500 

112 901 955 

18 347 660 
5 806 933 

24 154 593 

146 641 160 

131 249 615 

Total Liabilities 

Total Equity and Liabilities 

25	

	

	

 
21.    Categories of financial instruments 

 
Note  Loans and 

receivables 
Financial 

liabilities at 
amortised cost 

Equity and non 
financial assets 
and liabilities 

Total 

 
Categories of financial instruments ‐ 2016 

 
 

Assets 
 
 

Non‐Current Assets 
Investment property 

 
3 

 
‐ 

 
‐ 

 
11 431 308 

 
11 431 308 

Property, plant and equipment 4 ‐ ‐ 113 188 932 113 188 932 

  ‐ ‐ 124 620 240 124 620 240 

 
 
Current Assets 
Trade and other receivables 

 
 
 

6 

 
 
 

6 171 095 

 
 
 

‐ 

 
 
 

38 763 

 
 
 

6 209 858 
Cash and cash equivalents 7 419 517 ‐ ‐ 419 517 

  6 590 612 ‐ 38 763 6 629 375 

Total Assets  6 590 612 ‐ 124 659 003 131 249 615 

 
 

Equity and Liabilities 
 
 

Equity 
 
Accumulated loss 

  

 
 

‐ 

 

 
 

‐ 

 

 
 

(15 391 545) 

 

 
 

(15 391 545) 

Total Equity  ‐ ‐ (15 391 545) (15 391 545) 

 
 
Liabilities 

     

 
Non‐Current Liabilities 
Capital grants 

 
 

8 

 
 

‐ 

 
 

‐ 

 
 

122 341 588 

 
 

122 341 588 
Retention payable  ‐ ‐ 144 979 144 979 

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements
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-	 -	 126 703 770 126 703 770 

Current Liabilities 
Trade and other payables 
Deferred income 

10 
9 

-	
-	

-	

-	

-	

11 805 504 
‐ 

11 805 504 

11 805 504 

11 805 504 

19 934 
8 727 359 

8 747 293 

135 451 063 

123 746 111 

11 825 438 
8 727 359 

20 552 797 

147 256 567 

135 551 615 

Total Liabilities 

Total Equity and Liabilities 

26	

	

	

 
Note(s)  Loans and 

receivables 
Financial 

liabilities at 
amortised cost 

Equity and non 
financial assets 
and liabilities 

Total 

 

21.    Categories of financial instruments (continued) 

Categories of financial instruments ‐ 2015 

 

 
Assets 

 
Non‐Current Assets 
Investment property 

 
 

3 

 
 

‐ 

 
 

‐ 

 
 

11 694 595 

 
 

11 694 595 
Property, plant and equipment 4 ‐ ‐ 115 363 600 115 363 600 

  ‐ ‐ 127 058 195 127 058 195 

 
 
Current Assets 
Trade and other receivables 

 
 
 

6 

 
 
 

2 792 442 

 
 
 

‐ 

 
 
 

356 047 

 
 
 

3 148 489 
Cash and cash equivalents 7 5 344 931 ‐ ‐ 5 344 931 

  8 137 373 ‐ 356 047 8 493 420 

Total Assets  8 137 373 ‐ 127 414 242 135 551 615 

 
 
Equity and Liabilities 

     

 
Equity 

     

 

Accumulated loss   

‐ 
 

‐ 
 

(11 704 952) 
 

(11 704 952) 

Total Equity  ‐ ‐ (11 704 952) (11 704 952) 

 
 
Liabilities 

     

 
Non‐Current Liabilities 
Capital grants 

 
 

8 

 
 

‐ 

 
 

‐ 

 
 

126 602 381 

 
 

126 602 381 
Retention payable  ‐ ‐ 101 389 101 389 

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements
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22.    Risk management 

 
Capital risk management 

 
The College's objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the College's ability to continue as a going concern in order to 
provide services to its students by pricing services appropriately. 

 
Since the college is a statutory corporation incorporated through an Act of Parliament, the College is also subject to Government 
policies on capital Management. 

 
Capital is raised in the form of Government subventions to acquire assets and also to enable the operations. 

There are no externally imposed capital requirements applicable to the college. 

There have been no changes to what the entity manages as capital, the strategy for capital maintenance or externally imposed capital 
requirements from the previous year. 

 
Financial risk management 

 
The College’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including currency risk, fair value interest rate risk, cash flow 
interest rate risk and price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. 

 
The College’s overall risk management program focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential 
adverse effects on the College’s financial performance. 

 
Risk management is carried out by management under policies approved by the board of directors. 

 
Liquidity risk 

 
Liquidity risk is the risk that operations can not be funded and financial commitments can not be met timeously and cost effectively. 
The risk arises from both the difference between magnitude of assets and liabilities and the distortion in their maturities.Liquidity risk 
management deals with the overall profile of the statement of financial position, the funding requirements of the College and cash 
flows. 

 
The table below analyses the College’s financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period at the 
statement of financial position to the contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted 
cash flows. Balances due within 12 months equal their carrying balances as the impact of discounting is not significant. 

 
At 31 March 2016 Less than 1 

year 
Between 1 and 

2 years 
Trade and other payables 18 286 893  ‐ 
Retention payable  ‐ 144 979 

 
At 31 March 2015 Less than 1 

year 
Between 1 and 

2 years 
Trade and other payables 11 805 504 ‐ 
Retention payable 
 
Credit risk 

‐ 101 389 

 

Credit risk consists mainly of cash deposits, cash equivalents and receivables. The College only deposits cash with major banks with 
high quality credit standing and limits exposure to any one counter‐party. 

 

Financial assets exposed to credit risk at year end were as follows: 
 

` 

Financial instrument 

 

 
 

 

 

BancABC                                             16 442 16 483 
Barclays Bank of Botswana Limited 222 651 2 010 491 
Botswana Savings Bank 819 615 648 515 
First National Bank Botswana Limited 1 052 828 5 180 730 
Stanlib Investment Management Services (Proprietary) Limited 101 416 95 697 
Student debtors 6 142 135 1 697 552 
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22.    Risk management  

 
The College maintains deposits and balances only with major banks with high credit standing and limits exposure to any one counter‐
party. The College has deposits with the First National Bank of Botswana Limited, Barclays Bank of Botswana Limited, African Banking 
Corporation of Botswana Limited, Stanbic Bank of Botswana Limited and Botswana Savings Bank. There are no credit ratings available 
in Botswana for financial institutions. The above banks are either listed or long established banks and have reported sound financial 
results and continued compliance with minimal capital adequacy requirements. 

 
The First National Bank of Botswana Limited is listed on the Botswana Stock Exchange and is a subsidiary of First Rand Bank 
Limited, a College listed on the Johannesburg Stock Exchange. The credit rating of the First Rand Limited is BBB+ 

 
African Banking Corporation Botswana Limited is listed on the Botswana Stock Exchange and is a wholly owned subsidiary of 
African Banking Corporation Holding Limited and has a credit rating of BBB+ 

 
Stanbic Bank Botswana Limited is a long established bank in Botswana and a subsidiary of Standard Bank in South Africa. Standard 
Bank South Africa is listed on the Johannesburg Stock Exchange and has a credit rating of BBB (Fitch rating). Botswana 

Savings Bank is a long established bank in Botswana and is wholly owned by the Government of Botswana.  

Foreign exchange risk 

The College is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from various currency exposures, primarily with respect to the South Africa 
Rand. Foreign exchange risk arises from future commercial transactions, recognised assets and liabilities. 

 
At 31 March 2016, if the currency had weakened/strengthened by 10% against the South African Rand with all other variables held 
constant, post‐tax profit for the year would have been P 39 540 (2015: P 28 611) higher, mainly as a result of foreign exchange gains or 
losses on translation of South African Rand denominated cash and cash equivalents. 

 
Foreign currency exposure at the end of the reporting period 

 
Current assets 
Bank balance ZAR 604 092 (ZAR 714 627) 434 943 600 830 

 
Exchange rates used for conversion of foreign items were: 

 
` 

ZAR 1.3889 1.189 
 

23.    Fair value information 
 

Fair value hierarchy 
 

The table below analyses assets and liabilities carried at fair value. The different levels are defined as follows: 
 

Level 1: Quoted unadjusted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the College can access at measurement date. 

Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included in level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability either directly or indirectly. Level 3: 

Unobservable inputs for the asset or liability. 

There are no assets and liabilities measured under the different level mentioned above. 
 

Fair value of financial instruments measured at amortised cost 
 

Financial Instruments measured at amortised cost for which the fair value is disclosed he carrying amount of the following financial 
assets and liabilities is considered a reasonable approximation of fair value: 

• trade and other receivables 
• cash and cash equivalents 
• trade and other payables 
• retention payable 
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22.    Risk management 

 
Capital risk management 

 
The College's objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the College's ability to continue as a going concern in order to 
provide services to its students by pricing services appropriately. 

 
Since the college is a statutory corporation incorporated through an Act of Parliament, the College is also subject to Government 
policies on capital Management. 

 
Capital is raised in the form of Government subventions to acquire assets and also to enable the operations. 

There are no externally imposed capital requirements applicable to the college. 

There have been no changes to what the entity manages as capital, the strategy for capital maintenance or externally imposed capital 
requirements from the previous year. 

 
Financial risk management 

 
The College’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including currency risk, fair value interest rate risk, cash flow 
interest rate risk and price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. 

 
The College’s overall risk management program focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential 
adverse effects on the College’s financial performance. 

 
Risk management is carried out by management under policies approved by the board of directors. 

 
Liquidity risk 

 
Liquidity risk is the risk that operations can not be funded and financial commitments can not be met timeously and cost effectively. 
The risk arises from both the difference between magnitude of assets and liabilities and the distortion in their maturities.Liquidity risk 
management deals with the overall profile of the statement of financial position, the funding requirements of the College and cash 
flows. 

 
The table below analyses the College’s financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period at the 
statement of financial position to the contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted 
cash flows. Balances due within 12 months equal their carrying balances as the impact of discounting is not significant. 

 
At 31 March 2016 Less than 1 

year 
Between 1 and 

2 years 
Trade and other payables 18 286 893  ‐ 
Retention payable  ‐ 144 979 

 
At 31 March 2015 Less than 1 

year 
Between 1 and 

2 years 
Trade and other payables 11 805 504 ‐ 
Retention payable 
 
Credit risk 

‐ 101 389 

 

Credit risk consists mainly of cash deposits, cash equivalents and receivables. The College only deposits cash with major banks with 
high quality credit standing and limits exposure to any one counter‐party. 

 

Financial assets exposed to credit risk at year end were as follows: 
 

` 

Financial instrument 

 

 
 

 

 

BancABC                                             16 442 16 483 
Barclays Bank of Botswana Limited 222 651 2 010 491 
Botswana Savings Bank 819 615 648 515 
First National Bank Botswana Limited 1 052 828 5 180 730 
Stanlib Investment Management Services (Proprietary) Limited 101 416 95 697 
Student debtors 6 142 135 1 697 552 
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22.    Risk management  

 
The College maintains deposits and balances only with major banks with high credit standing and limits exposure to any one counter‐
party. The College has deposits with the First National Bank of Botswana Limited, Barclays Bank of Botswana Limited, African Banking 
Corporation of Botswana Limited, Stanbic Bank of Botswana Limited and Botswana Savings Bank. There are no credit ratings available 
in Botswana for financial institutions. The above banks are either listed or long established banks and have reported sound financial 
results and continued compliance with minimal capital adequacy requirements. 

 
The First National Bank of Botswana Limited is listed on the Botswana Stock Exchange and is a subsidiary of First Rand Bank 
Limited, a College listed on the Johannesburg Stock Exchange. The credit rating of the First Rand Limited is BBB+ 

 
African Banking Corporation Botswana Limited is listed on the Botswana Stock Exchange and is a wholly owned subsidiary of 
African Banking Corporation Holding Limited and has a credit rating of BBB+ 

 
Stanbic Bank Botswana Limited is a long established bank in Botswana and a subsidiary of Standard Bank in South Africa. Standard 
Bank South Africa is listed on the Johannesburg Stock Exchange and has a credit rating of BBB (Fitch rating). Botswana 

Savings Bank is a long established bank in Botswana and is wholly owned by the Government of Botswana.  

Foreign exchange risk 

The College is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from various currency exposures, primarily with respect to the South Africa 
Rand. Foreign exchange risk arises from future commercial transactions, recognised assets and liabilities. 

 
At 31 March 2016, if the currency had weakened/strengthened by 10% against the South African Rand with all other variables held 
constant, post‐tax profit for the year would have been P 39 540 (2015: P 28 611) higher, mainly as a result of foreign exchange gains or 
losses on translation of South African Rand denominated cash and cash equivalents. 

 
Foreign currency exposure at the end of the reporting period 

 
Current assets 
Bank balance ZAR 604 092 (ZAR 714 627) 434 943 600 830 

 
Exchange rates used for conversion of foreign items were: 

 
` 

ZAR 1.3889 1.189 
 

23.    Fair value information 
 

Fair value hierarchy 
 

The table below analyses assets and liabilities carried at fair value. The different levels are defined as follows: 
 

Level 1: Quoted unadjusted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the College can access at measurement date. 

Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included in level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability either directly or indirectly. Level 3: 

Unobservable inputs for the asset or liability. 

There are no assets and liabilities measured under the different level mentioned above. 
 

Fair value of financial instruments measured at amortised cost 
 

Financial Instruments measured at amortised cost for which the fair value is disclosed he carrying amount of the following financial 
assets and liabilities is considered a reasonable approximation of fair value: 

• trade and other receivables 
• cash and cash equivalents 
• trade and other payables 
• retention payable 
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Revenue 
Student application and tuition fees 

  

 
19 707 279 

 

 
22 448 243 

 
Other income 

   

Rental income  601 508 533 610 
Amortisation of capital  7 199 053 8 491 391 
Tenders  36 500 ‐ 
Other income  2 761 541 4 713 066 
Finance income 14 ‐ 7 105 
Gains on disposal of assets  ‐ 59 000 
Government grants  70 138 247 66 081 025 

  80 736 849 79 885 197 
 
Expenses (Refer to page 30) 

  
(104 072 150) 

 
(96 469 907) 

Operating (loss) profit 13 (3 628 022) 5 863 533 
Finance costs 15 (58 571) ‐ 

Surplus/(deficit) for the year  (3 686 593) 5 863 533 
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Operating expenses 
Auditors remuneration 

 
17 

 

 
(199 403) 

 

 
(261 990) 

Bad debts  38 683 ‐ 
Bank charges  (580 816) (396 297) 
Board expenses  (64 407) (127 006) 
Consulting and professional fees  (196 400) (605 099) 
Consumables  (93 585) (198 257) 
Depreciation  (7 199 053) (8 579 399) 
Donations  (8 000) ‐ 
Employee costs  (57 735 570) (52 031 522) 
Entertainment  (94 317) (42 529) 
Examination expenses  (1 145 028) (861 850) 
Hire charges  (2 071 336) (1 834 003) 
IT expenses  (464 642) (760 139) 
Insurance  (1 062 583) (1 064 204) 
Learner material  (7 663 897) (5 474 707) 
Lease rentals on operating lease  (667 016) (604 119) 
Legal expenses  (28 246) ‐ 
Library books  (218 395) (271 753) 
Library resources  (30 952) (57 426) 
License Fees  (1 179 141) (958 348) 
Medical expenses  (601 788) (517 015) 
Other expenses  (1 718 559) (2 419 236) 
Moderators fees  (12 696) ‐ 
Partnership fees, development and maintenance  (3 355 441) (3 274 115) 
Petrol and oil  (277 964) (332 519) 
Postage  (147 041) (163 343) 
Printing and stationery  (748 457) (780 490) 
Programs expenditure  (1 434 585) (874 906) 
Promotions  (889 979) (775 424) 
Protective clothing  (9 070) (12 578) 
Repairs and maintenance  (3 505 849) (3 249 715) 
Staff welfare  (333 881) (343 681) 
Subscriptions  (82 630) (47 211) 
Teaching aids and audio cassettes  (72 281) (64 698) 
Telephone and fax  (631 145) (613 116) 
Training  (149 537) (146 499) 
Travel ‐ local  (778 031) (896 865) 
Travel ‐ overseas  (888 835) (465 307) 
Tutor and writer expenses  (5 852 413) (6 018 932) 
Utilities  (1 917 864) (1 345 609) 

  (104 072 150) (96 469 907) 
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